


© N Y. W N N % St |

LIBRARY OF CONGRERN. z

Chap.
.

¢ UNITED STATES OF AMERICA. ¢

VHeSH BB T e

-
}










T R I A L

Dnoan Invifment for the ucger

OFGULIELM g SANDS,

W MONDAY THE THIRTY-FIRgT Lav or T.'»/XAR.CH,,

P}

AND TUESDAY THE FIRST DAY QF APP,.!L, 8¢,

Rt T,

TAXEZE IN $HOUT HANE BY THE CrLzpg o TER Laae

e LY

MEwW-vonx:
PRINTED By
SRR SOLD AT HIS arLame, oy
VPO TR THE QITy-ua -

LECO,




ERRATA.

Page 42, line 22, for the read I
47, line 30, after Elma read came up to me

alone, and




PREFACE.

THE public are at length prefented with the
Report of a Urial, which has awakened unufual foli-
citude among all clafles of people. When it was
promifed at an earlier day, it was not forefeen what
degree of lalior and painful attention would be requi-
fite to render it correct. A ftrong with to make it
minutely accurate and {trictly impartial has necefla-
rily protracted the publication to this time. No
labor has been fpared to obtain this end : five other
note-books befides my own, have been examined and
the whole have been carefully collated, and if there
is any merit in the performance it lies in its cor-
reftnefs. The teftimony of the principal witneffes
is given in their own words, that the reader may
better weigh their refpective claims to belief: this is
what he can never be fairly enabled to do when the
reporter undertakes to ftate the amount of the tefti-
mony, inftead of the teftimony itfelf, thereby giving
nothing more than the impreflions it made upon his
own mind. 1In the perufal of the following fheets, it
is hoped, fomething more may be found than the
graufication of a temporary curiofity. The critical
oblerver of manners, and the philofopher who makes
the human heart his ftudy, will, it is believed, be en-
abled from the picture here prefented, to catch a
giance at fome features of real life,—He will here {ee

- the advantage which truth poflefles over prevarication:
and falfhood.
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o PREFACE.

I cannot help noticing twe pamphlets which have
kdrea«*y appeared, buth pretendii g to exhibit a cor-
redd report of thistrial. -

The firft i publithed by one Longworth, and was
in printa tew hours after the 1rial was over. This
man hes feized with avidi'y upon the moment, when
public curiofity was al alive, and it we may credit
his own avowal without regard to any thing but re-
mmuneration, he has publithed juft fuch an account as
might naturally be expe ied from a man alting from
| fuch motives. 1 {hould not have defcended tg notice
: this paltry performance heve, had he not put it off
by the infinvadon of a falthood. It has been trum-
peted round the ftreets as ¢ The whole Trial of Levi
Weeks, takes in fbort hand by a gentleman of the bar.”
Although he may feel a prefent gratification from the
fuceels with which the arsifice has been attended, yet
it is hoped he will find, in the end, that the pubhc
will not eafily ferget fo gmfs an impofition.

The other appears under the name of James Har-
me, and is fmrly fuffeved to find its fale in Bookfell-
er’s fhops, without the aid of impofture. Butin his
flatement of the teftimony, he has involved fome of
the witieflzs in pofitive and material contradiCtions,
where ia reality there were none. This maybe ac-
counted for from the unfavourable {ituation in which
he fat to take his notes, as well as from fome other
sircumitances not irreconcilable with the molt inno-
cent intentions; but furely a confcientious man
cannot but feel fome degree of uneafinefs, that he
has done a thing in the face of the public—at onee,
fo injuricus to tmth and to the individual wheis
affeted by it. Thefe remarks are made with fome
re ullance upon a man, wholam told, hasa confi-
derable fhareof literary mernit,




PREFACE.

On the queftion of the Guilt or Innocence of the
accufed, I fhall fay noth ng, as 1 conceive it i not
the province of an individual to re-judge his cafe or
arraign the verdict of bis peers.  After a long and
impartial trial, his country have pronounced him
Innocent, and the language of that verui: muft
be conclufivé., A faithful exhibition of the falts
on which that decifion was built, is all that 13 affign.
ed to me, and this duty I bave endeavoured to dif-
charge to the beft of my ability.

WILLIAM COLEMAN.

April 12. 1800,
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yTRlAL, é’fa

MONDAY, MARCH 31.

THF Court affembled at 10 o’clock in the
forencon, and Proclamation having been made in the
ufual form, the prifoner was put to the Bar.

The Pannel was then called, and thirty-four Jurors
appeared and anfwered to heir names.  The Clerk
then addrefled the prifoner, < Levi Weeks, prifoner
at the bar, hold up your right hand, and hearken to
what is faid to you.—Thefe good men who have
been laflt called, and who do now appear, are thofe
who are to pals between the Ieople of the State of
New-York, and you, upon your Trial of Life and
Death: 1f, therefore, you will challenge them, or ei-
ther of them, your time to challengeis, as they come
to the book to be fworn, and before they are fworn,
and you will be heard.”

The Clerk then proceeded to call the Jury from
the Pannel, and the firft having come up, and being
defired to place his hand upon the book, he ad-
drefled himelf to the Juror and the Prifoner ; ¢ Ju-
ror, look upon the Prifoner; Prifoner, lcok upon
the Juror—and adminiftered the following Oath :
“ You fhall well and truly try, and true deliverance
make, between the People of the State of New-York,
and Levi Weceks the prifoner at the bar, whom you
all have in charge, and a trne verdict give accord-
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ing to evidence, fo help you God.”” All the Quakers
upon the Pannel, exceping James Hunt, as they
were called, came up to the Court and requefted to
te excufed from ferving on the Jury, as they had
fcruples of confcience which prohibited them from
fitting to determine on a cafe of life and death—and
the court excufed them accordingly.

The prifoner challenged eleven of the Jurors, who
were fet afide of courfe ; the Afliftant Attorney Gen-
,, eral alfo challenged one for fome expreflions which he-
: had been informed had dropt from him, but finding
i could not be fupported, he gave it up.

"+ " { JURORS SWORN.
‘ Garrit Storm, Tohn Rathbone,
X Simon Schermerhorn, William Wilfon,

Robert Lylburn; Wm. G. Miller,
George Scriba, Samuel Ward,

i  Richard Ellis, William Walton,
, James Hunt, Jasper Ward.
f ?7he Clerk then addreffed the Jury, ¢ Gentlemen of

the Jury, the prisoner at the bur, ftands Indifted in
the words following, to wit.

¢ City and Cou nty) of
; New-York,
‘ of New-York, in and for the
! dieir Qath present, that LRV
vard, of the city of Wew-York,
hourer, not having Foar of God bufore his eves, but belng mov-
i ed and seduced by ation of the devil, on the 22d day
[ December, in the year of our Lord 1799, with force and arms at
ty wioresaid, in and upon

T

% A THE Tarors of the wle of the State
gy and county of New-York, on
WELKS, lime of the seventh
in the county of Naow-York

the wurd aforesaid, at the city and cou
one GULIELMA SANDS, in the Prace of God, and of the
said veople then and there beingy filoniously, wilinlly, and of his
t, and that the said Lexi

alice afarethought, aid maeke an as
ben and thera felonionsly, wiliullv, and of his malice a-

sid Gulichina Sands 1ate both the hands

forethought, did take the
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Upon this Indictment the prifoner at the bar hath
been arraigned, and on lns arraignanent, hath plead
ed not guilty, and is now to be tried by his country,,




which country you are; fo that your charge is, gen-
tlemen, to enquire whether the prifoner at the bar is
guilty of the felony whereof he {tands Indicted, or is
not guilty ; {o fit together and hear your evidence.”

The Affiftant Attorney General then addrefled the
Court and Jury :

/% In a caufle which appears fo greatly to have excit-
ed the public mind, in which the prifoner has thought
it neceffary for his defence, to employ fo many ad-
vocates diftinguithed for their eloquence and abili-
ties, fo vaftly my iupeuors in learning, experience
and profeflicnal rank; it is not wonderful that I
thould rife to addrefs you under the weight of em-
barraffments which fuch circumftances a&ually ex-
cite. But gentlemen, although the abilities enlift-
ed on the refpetive {ides of this caufe are very un-
equal, I find confolation in the reflection, that our
tatks are fo alfo. While to my opponents it belongs
as their duty to exert all their powerful talents in
favour of the prifoner, as a public profecutor, I’
think I ought to do no more than offer you in its
proper order, all the teftimony the cafe affords,
draw from the witnefles which may be produced on

‘either fide all that they know, the truth, the whole

truth, and nothing bt the truth, If T had the pow-
er of enlifting the paffions and biafling the judgment,
which thofe oppofed to me poflefs, I fhould think it
unjuftifiable to exert it on fuch an occafion.

Levi Weeks, the prifoner at the bar, is mdx&ed
for the murder of Guliclma Sands. He is a young
man of reputable connctions, and for ought we

- know, till he was charged with this crime, of irre-.
' proachable charatter, nay of amiable and engaging

manners, infomuch that he had gained the affeGtions
of thofe who are now to appear againft him as wit«
nefles on this trial for his life, Thefe are circum-
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ftances greatly in his favour, and there is no reafon
to fear that they will not be urged with all their
force. We are aware that you will not convi@
{fuch a one of the horrid crime of which he is accufed
upon lefs than the utmolt evidence that the nature
of the cafe admirs, and that you will not readily be
convinced that one fo young has already embrued
his hands in the blood of the innocent.

The decealed was a young girl, who tll her fa.
tal acquaintance with the prifoner, was virtuous and
modeit, and it will be material for you to remark,
always of a cheerful difpofition, and lively manners,
though of a delicate conftitution. We expett to
prove to you that the prifoner won her affeCtions,
and that her virtue fell a facrifice to his afliduity;
that after a long period of criminal intercourle be-
tween them, he deluded her from the houfle of her
protector under a pretence of marrying her, and car-
ried her away to a well in the fuburbs of this city,
and there murdered hero—("Here the A1 Atty.
Gen. fuddenly flopped a few feconds, as if overpowered
with bis emotions. )—No wonder, gentlemen that my
mind fhudders at the piCture here drawn, and re-
quires a moment to recolle&t myfelf.

In order to enable you to dirett your attention
the better to the teftimony that will be offered, 1 fhall
proceed to detait to you more particularly the proof

which I expe& will be made.

I will not fay gentlemen, what may be your verdiét
as to the prifoner, but I will venture to affert, that
not one of you or any man who hears this cuufc,
thall doubt that the unfortunate young creature who
was found dead in the Manbattan well, was moft
barbaroufly murdered.

Elias Ring, and Catherine his wife, keep a board-
ing-houfe in the upper part of Greenwich-itreet; the




decealed was a diftant relation of theirs who lived
with them. Hope Sands, a fifter of Mr. Ring, and
1 Margaret Clark, lived in the fame houfe. In July
laft, the prifoner was received into the houfe asa
boarder. U pon his firft coming, for about a month,
he thewed fome attendon to Margaret Clark, but
* foon after was obferved to attach himfelf in a very
particular manner to the deceafed. Their conduét
{oon led to {ufplcmns in the famdy, that there was
an improper intercourfe between them. In the month
of September, Mrs. Ring fled from the fever, leav- -
the care of her houie to her hufband, and the
dcccafed ; and leaving in it alfo the pnfoner and fome
other boarders. Mrs. Ring remained out of town a-
bout fix weeks, and In that time it is certain that
the prifoner and the deceafed lived together in the
10t intmate manner. On the firlt of December
laft, the deceafed difclofed to Hope Sands, that on
the next Sunday fhe was to be married to the pri-
foner, but at this time, and whenever afterwards the
fpoke on the fubjet, enjoined on Hope the {tricteft
iecrecy, forbidding her to tell even Mrs. ng, fay-
ing that Levi meant to keep their marriage a fecret,
even from her (Hope) and therefore that no one
thould go with them to fee the ceremony perform.
ed.
Between this time and the time of her departure
| from the houle, it will be feen, fhe frequently fpoke
i of her approaching marriage, and always with cheer-
| fulnefs and a lively pleafure. On Saturday, the 21ft
1 of December, the day before the fatal accident—IHope
8 dilclofed the fecret to Mrs. Ring, informing her,
that Tlma was to be married the next evening. On
the Sunday about dinner-time, Mrs. Ring difcovered
to the deceafed, that fhe knew her intentions.  The
deceafed, you will find, then confefled that fhe was to




be married, and that the prifoner was to come for
her that nighr at 8 o’clock.  Mrs. Ring prefled the
deceafed to be of the party—=She faid Levi would not
confent, as he meant tc keep his marriage a perfe&
fecret from all.  In the evening you will fee, the
deceafed began to drefs herdelf, in which Mrs. Ring
affifted her ; the deceafed appeared perfeétly cheerful
all this time, the put on her hat and fhawl, and went
to a neighbor’s and borrowed a muff, which the pro-
mifed to return in a little time. She alfo took up a
pocket-handkerchief belonging to one of the boarders,
faying fhe thould not make ufe of it, and would return
it béfore it was mifled. You will have evidence that
the pn oner had left the houfe of Mr. Ring, about
five o’clock in the afternoon, and that about eight
e’clock in the evening the deceafed ftood leaning over
the front door, IOUI\JHU' out—that Mrs. Ring defired
Ler to come in, faying, ‘he did not believe Levi would
come, to which fhe anfwered, fhe did not fear, it
was not yet eight, but fhe left the door and werit in
with Mrs. Ring, and in a little time the prifoner re-
turned, and came into the room where was Elias
Ring, Mrs. Ring, the decealed, and two boa rdtrs
by the names of Laccy and Ruflel.  Mrs. Ring fe
with them about five minutes, when fhe got up and
went to the {treet-door, and leaned over it till I Lacey
snd Ruflel went up-ftairs to bed.  She then left the
ftreet door, and as fhie does perfectly remember, fhut it
after her; fhe went into the room again, and was
hardly feated when the deceafed went up ftairs; Mrs.
Ring immediately followed her, found her in -her
room above, pinned on the thawl for her, and after
being with her not more than two minutes, left her
in the room oppofite the ftairs, juft on the point of
mr‘wing down. Mrs. Ring rctuined to the room
below where the prifoner was; in sbout 2 minute he




took v his hat, and as he opened the room-doo? to
go out, Mrs. Ring heard femebody come lightly
down the ftairs, and as fhe fuppofes, meet him at the
bottom ; fhe then heard two voices whifpering at the

foot of the ftairs for about a minute, fhe then heard

the ftreet door open and immediately fhut, the took a

candle and went to the door to look after them but it

was dark and fo many people pafling, that {he could

not diftinguith any one.  The ftreet door you will

find, opens with a great and remarkable noife, in
confequence of its being out of order. Gentlemen,
it will be neceflary for you to pay particular attention
to this part of the evidence, for if you do believe
that the prifoner, at this time, went out of the houfe
with the deceafed—I do not fee how he can be acquit-
ted. After Mrs. Ring thut the door, it was not again
opened tiil the time when fhe fuppofes the prifoner and
the deceafed went out.  'We fhall fhow you that there
were no other perfons in the houfe till ten or eleven
o’clock, but Elias Ring, who remained in the common
fitting room, and the two lodgers, Lacey and Ruffel,

who we fhall prove to you lodged together, and were
not out of their lodging.-room, from the time they
went up ftairs. From this time the deceafed was
never after feen till her corps was found in the Man.
hattan Well. She had the marks of great violence
upon her, and great part of her cloaths were torn
off.

We fhall produce a number of w1tneﬁes, whoy
between the hours of 8 & g of the evening of the 22d
of December, heard, from about the place of the well,
the voice of a female crying murder, and entreating
for mercy. It will be thown to you, gentlemen, that
there was the track of a fingle horfe fleigh, which
we thall prove that at fome time between the Satur-
day night before, and Monday morning fucceeding,
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pult have come out of Greenwich-ftreet, and pafied
in a wvery cxtraordinary manner near the brink
of the well; that the snow round the edge of the
well was much trodden, and that the fleigh after
having made a curious turn or ftop near the well,
mult have paffed on to the Broadway road, and, in
coming into that, turned towards town.

We fhall proceed to thew you, that on the evening
after the 22d of December, foon after the decealed
teft her houfe, the was meta few hundred yards from
her houle in the way towards the road that leads to
ihe well, in company with two men. Thata few
bundred yards further on, and about the fame time,
a fingle horle fleigh was {feen with two men and a
woman i it ; the horfe of a dark colour and with-
out bells, paffing on towards the read or fireet which
leads from Greenwich {tveet to the well.

Gur next teftimony will be, to prove to you, that
anumber of young gentlemen riding for pleafure on
e fame evening, as they were coming into town,
herween 8 and ¢ o’clock, on the Breadway road,
whon they were {ome diffance necrer to the town
than the place where the track of the one horfe fivigh
was difcovered to have turned into the Droadway
roul, they were overtaken by a fingle horle fleigh,
which paffed them with the horle ona full gallop, and
without bells ; there were two menin it and the horfe
was dark colsured. We fhall then fhow vou that
Mr. Fzra Weeks, the brother of the pmioner, was the
owner of a fingle fleigh, and a dark horle, and
that the prifoner bad accels 1o it when he chofe,
and we fhall produce o you fuch teftimony, as
we {upvole will fatisty you that this borfe und fleigh-
n out of the yard of Ezra Weeks, ubout 8
o’clock in the evening of the 22d of December, and

C
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was returned again into the yard in lefs than halfan
hour.

You will fee, gentlemen of the Juty, that we have
only circumftantial evidence to offer to you in this
cale, and you muft alfo perceive that from its nature
it admits of po other. 1 fhall, however, referve my
remarks upon this {ubjet, for a future ftage in the
caufe ; and fhall, without delaying you longer, pro-
ceed to call the witneffes.g#

The Counfel for the prifoner moved the Court for
permiffion to take the teftimony of Elizabeth Wat-
kins, who was now in an adjoining houle, on the
following affidavit of Jofeph Watkins :

City of New-York, ss.

JOSEPH WATEKINS, being duly sworn, doth depose and
say, That Elizabeth Watking, his wite, was brought to bed on the
sixteenth day of March instant, and that she has been very unwell
ever since, and still is so, and that she has never been down stairs
since she was brought to bed, and that he verily believes it would
very much endanger her health to attend court,  And this deponent
doth further say, That the said Elizabeth Watkins’ breasts were very
sore and festered.  And further this deponent saith not,

JOSEPH WATEKINS.

Sworn this 31st March, 1800, before me, ‘
JOHN LANSING, Jun.

Mr. Affiftant- Attorney-General faid, that he fhould
not now make any objections to it, as itappeared that
the fituation of the witnefs was fuch that her perfonal
attendance was abfolutely impoflible. Whereupon,
Mr. Juftice Lanfing went with the Affiftant-Attor-
ney-General and Gen. Hamilton, 1o take the depofi-
tion of the witnels. After they had returned into
“Court, the firft witnefs on the part of the prolecution
was called. '

CAUBARINE RING afirmed.—[lt was now
moved that the hufband of the witnefs, being alfo a
witnefs, fhould withdraw out of hearing during her

r
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examination, which the court ordered, faying the
prifoner had a right to it of courle, if he requetted it. }

‘T he witnefs then proceeded :

In fuly laft, Levi Weeks came to board in our
faruily, foon after which he began to pay attention
to Margaret Clatk, till about the 28th of the- 8th
M mtu, “when the went into the country. About two
duvs afrer her ablence, Gulielma Sands < asked me”’

—THere fhe was flopped by the counfel for the pri-
10.&1&', who pmyed the opix‘io.l of the Court, whe-
thor any declarations of the decealed were admiffi-
?"4, as evidence. They contended that this was a cale

f hear-f ;J,y tcf*m*on) , aud did not come within any of
the exceptions in the books.— They admirted that the
declarations of & murdered perion were fomcmms
1eceived asevidence apmﬂ a prifoncr, butit was only
when they were made after the fatal blovv, in his Iaft
moments and when he mult be iuppo‘{cd to be under
an equa Holemmty with that of an oath.

#The Attorney-General infifted that fuch tei’umony
was proper to thow the difpolition of mind in the

1

deceaied, when fhe left the houle on the night of the
fatal accident ; ; that this was the only way i difcover
whether fhe was found in her intelie@s, or whether
fhe was not under the impreflions of mchncho y—
ond that in reality, this was one of thofe cales, where
evidence was to be admitred upon the neceflity of the
thing. To fupport his arrumcnt he produced 4 State
'Hi-als9 487, 488, idem 231, 208 ; Leeche’s Cafes,

309, idem 397, idem 437 ; 2 Bacon 5633 Skinner’s

4. He denied that State
Trials was any authority, ‘Uhe cafein Skinner he faid
was cer rnm‘y net law; and h read an wuthority from
kins, P CL 44y, and the cafe from Leech, 347,
was 1 ogpoﬁriul to the principle contendad for on

3
the other {ide,
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Col. Burr fubjoined a few remarks. After ftating
what he thought ought to be the only exception to
receiving hear-fay evidence, viz. Thatit muft be con-
fined to cafes in extremis, after the fatal blow given,
he obferved, that befides that the book is no authori-
ty in the firlt cafe read by the Afliftant- Attorney-
General, the witnefs was fuffered to proceed without
interruption, and no point was made to the Court
refpelting it.  As to the 2d. cafe, it wasin the court
of feflions in Scotland, and could not be confidered as
any authority here. He affirmed that Woodcock’s
cale, although produced on the other fide, was pers
feftly confiftent with the opinion which he held.

“The Court unanimoufly refufed to admit the teftimonyy
The witnefs then went on, being told to fupprels
whatever Elmore had said to her—¢ Elmote lived
in our houfe with us three years, as our child.  After
Margaret Clark had gone into the country a few days,
Levi became very attentive to Elmore, to whom I
mentioned it, and fhe did not deny it. She and Levi
were left together with my hufband either the toth
or the 11th of the gth month.
Q_ by the counsel for the Prisoner. Which reom did
Elma fleep in while you were in the country ?
; A Inthe front room, fecond ftory.
i After I had been abfent about 4 weeks, I receivedalet-
er from my hufband, defiring me to come home as he
was verylonefome. L at firft determined to return imme-
diately, but I always thought Levi a man of honor,
and that he did not intend to promiie further than he
rntended to perform; therefore I ftayed two weeks
“longer, and I came home fix weeks to a day. After my
return 1 paid ftrict attention to their conduét, and faw
an appearance of mutual attachment, but nothing
improper ; and always difcovered fufficient in their
countenance to convince me what was in agitation
between them ; and he was frequently in the room
when fhe was fick. Ina fhort time after my return,
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fhe concluded to pay a vifit to her friends In the
country, though the did not feem very anxious to go
as 1t was o late in the feafon ; however, after the got
ready to go, Levi accompanied her to the veflel,
and {he ftayed abour two wecks. During her mdlf—
pofition he pald her the flricteft attention, and ipent
{everal nichts in the room, faying he did not like to
leave ber with Hope, (my fifter) fearing fhe might
get 1o {leep and neglect her ; and in the night he want-
el to go for a phyfician, but [ difcouraged bim, think-

Cing fhe would get better by the mornirg. One night,

after fhe had got much better, chufing to fleep a!one,
fhe went to bcd and as 1 fuppofed, Levi was gone
alto.  (FHere the mmfel for the prijoner ftopped the wit-
wefs- 1o inforin the court that Elias Ring, although order-
ed out, bad returned and was [randing bebind bis wife the
witiefs 5 the court ordered the conftable to take bim ont,

end reprimanded bim for bis bebaviour.) In about two
hours | thought T would ftep up into her room and fee
how fhe did—I flipped off my fhoes, and going quick
without making much noife, Ipalt‘y opened the door,
and {aw him fitting by the fide of herbed, and the
door was thur agamft me, I took it to be by him, be-
caufe the was in bed and could not reach the door.—
The next morning he faid he had made a fire juft
before day in his own room, and he difcovered more
concern than [ expected.

Not a day pafled but convinced me more and more
that he was paying his attentions to her ; I often
foun fitting and ftanding together, and once in parti-
cular I found them fitting togethcr cn her bed. On the
22d of December, my fifter Hope went to meeting, and
Levi went to his brother’s; in a fhort time he return-
ed, having fallen and hurt his knee, which circum-
flance, it ftruck my mind, would prevent their inten-
tiens for that tme; Sylvanus Ruffel faid, Levi you
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won’t be able to go out to-day—He anfwered, I am
determined to, to-night. Elma then drefled his knee
for him—it was not much of a hurt—1I faw it—the got
2 plaifter. After fhe had drefled it—he went vp ftairs
a thort time—the alfo foliowed him, and was gone I
fhould fuppefe, confiderably more than an hour, this
was about noon. His apprentice came down to do {ome-
thing, and in a little time went up, but foon returned
again; the thought firuck me that they had fent him
down to get him out of the way. Between 12 and 1
o’clock the came down into the room where I was pre-
paring dinner, with a fmiling countenance, and fecmed
much pleafed. I {pentthe aiternoonwith her; her coun-
tenance and behaviour was calm and compofed, and
fully happy, as likewife her appetite remarkably good.
1 left her a fhort time, and went into another room ;
when I returned, Ifound Levi fitting by the fire with
her, appearing fully compofed and happy; but he foon
left us and went up ftairs—fhortly after Elma went
alfo; in about 20 minutes fhe returned not quite
drefled, with her handkerchief in her hand, faying to
me, ¢ which looks beft > Then Levi came down,
nearly drefled alfo, with his coat upon his arm, at
which time, Elma {tepped behind the curtain of the
bed. ¢ He faid, ¢ where’s Elma?”’ 1 faid, ¢ fhe is
bid behind the bed.” He faid dont mind me—I want
you to tie my hair. llma came out and did fo; Elias
came in from meeting, and fhe went up flairs, and
Levi after her: this was about fun-fer, and fhe did not
come down till after dark, and Levi I believe ftaid as
long, for one of the family went up and found them
together I had got tea ready and waited {fome time
for them to drink tea, thinking they would drink tea
together ; but he did not come,  After tea I propofed
borrowing a muff for her at one of our neighbor’s—
fhe faid fhe would go herfelf, and fhe went and gotit.
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A while after fhe went to the front door and 1"“*19@1
over it, which 1 foon obferved. [told her I was afi:
fhe would take cold; fhe followed me in, where was
two young men of the family, Ruflell and Lacy, with
my hufband—we all fat together till Levi came in——
I then went to the front door, and leaned over it—-{ocn
after the young men came out and went up-ftairs to
bed, at which time I beard the clock firike eight. Af.
ter they had gone up-ftairs, I shut ihe door, and came
in, f;maq, the clack bas just struck fz'ng‘. I fat down,
and in the courfe of a minute or two after, Elma got
up and went out, and I obferved Levi’s eyes fixed up-
on her, and [ thought he looked at her for to go; in
the courfe of about a minute, I believe not more, §
tock the candle and went up-ftairs, the had her har and
thawl on, and her muff ia her hand ; 1 obferved fhe
looked rather paler than usual, but I thought it a na-
tural confequence, and 1 told her not to be frightened.
I went down, and left her just ready to follow—Lzvi
took his hat—

flions by Prifoner’s C)mzﬁ:l. Pray how long wa
HJJl the thme that § 111 befi are P\h_u.. (41‘4
Ay went to bed ?

r.
7
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e e e rae
ff'/!/'lv‘ About Gve minutes,
After Wiiiel and T arv were o
Quefi. Fow long atter Ruflel and Lacy were gons

before you woent “?-’
Anfw. About onc minute porhaps.
Duefl. Hnw long mizht vou remain there ?
Aifww. About a nnhxutc.
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Ring, in what fituation did you leave Elma up
ftairs.

Anfw. 1 left her jult ready to come down, juft
coming down, fhe came down almeft inftantly. 1
came down and left her in the room and came in
where Eliasaod Levi were fitting ; no other perfon
was up in the houfe but we four. I fet the candle
down over the fire-place, Levi inftantly took his
hat and went out into the entry; the moment the
door opened, 1 heard a walking on the ftairs, and
dire@tly I heard a whifpering near the door, at the
bottom of the ftairs for nearly a minute, but {o near
the door I thought I might underftand what was faid,
and I liftened for that purpole; foon I heard them
ftep along, and the front door opened and the latch
fell. Itook up the candle and run to the door toiee
which way they went ; it was mooniight, but having
a candle made 1t darker.

Queft. by Prifoner’s Counfel. Mis. Ring, are you
fure you thut the door before ? ‘

dnfw. 1 am pofitive : it ftuck much, and it was ~
difficult to fhut it; it was fomething out of order,
which made a jarring noife, and 1t ftuck a good deal.
I then run up flairs to feeif the might not be there,
why I did it, T dont know, I can’t fay, but fomchow
1felt agitated on the occafion, but the was not there

Queft. by Afifant Attorney-General.  Were the fteps
e{cending the ftairs loud or not?

Anfw. The fteps coming down were loud.

Queft. Did you or did you not hear the fteps of
one perfon only

Anfw. 1 heard the fteps but ofone perfon.

[The Affiftant Attorney-General now produced a
plan of the infide of theé houteand the witnefs being
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afked to do it, explained it to the Jury.]
Queff. How far is it from your room door to the
front door ? v
Anfw. About ten feet,
Queft. What kind of ftair-cale is it ?
Anfw. Tt is a hollow, clofe ftair-cafe.

Queff. 'Would not a perfon coming down fuch
make a confiderable noife ?

Apf. Any perfon certainly would.
Queff. How near 1s your door to the {tairs?
Aufew. 1t is clofe to them ; it opens againft them.

- Qust. How far {rom the foot of the ftairs to the
outer door ?

Anstw. Not more than four feet.

Quefl. Arc you fure about the found of fteps going
out?

Anfw. 1 am very pofitive ; T heard the fteps very
diftinctly.

Queft. As to the fteps on the ftairs, how was it ?

Anfw. As he opened the door of our room, I
heard the ftep on the ftaigs, :

Queft. Could you not have been miftaken? was
there no noife in the room where vou was ?

iy
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Anfw. There was nonoife at all, nor any body
there but my hufband.

Quef. by the Court.  Did Levi return to his lodgs
ings the fame evening?

Anfw. 1 was going to tell, about ten o’clock hé
returned, and his apprentice was there waiting for
him as he had the key of the room, and the boy
could not go to bed. The mcment he opened the
door I caft my eyes upon bim, his countenance
was pale and much agitated. His aporentice was
tanding waiting for him, 'he came to the fire,
took the key out of his pocket and gave it to
him, faying in a thort tone, go fo bed. He fat
down and faid, Is Hope got bome ? 1 anfwered, N-o
Is Eima gone to bed 2 1 anfwered, No—She is gose
out, at leaft I faw ber ready to go, and have good reafon
to think fbe went. He {aid, I'm furprifed fhe fhould go
out [0 late at night and alowe. 1 replied, I’ve noreafon
to think fbe went algne, to which he made no reply,
but looked earneft ad thoughtful and leaned down
hishead on his ha' d in this manner, {putting her
hand over her left eye, and leaning her head upon it.]

Queft. by Afifiant Attorney-General. Had any thing
pafled to lead him to believe that fhe went out alone?

Anfw. No, there had not.

; .Qz;e/l. by the Courr. Did you exprefs any alarm te
am ¢ .

Anfw. No :—Feeling ‘very uneafy and agitated,
1 thought I would {peak to Levi more particularly than
I bad done,and I told Elias to go to bed, and I would
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£z the child and bring it to him ; and he got up to
go, upon which Levi inftanly rofe and went up flaire.
I thought fhe had gone to one of the neighbours to
leave the muff; I was then determined to fit up
until fhe fhould come in: I accordingly put out
the candle and covered up the fire, fuppofing that
perhaps he would come down after he thought ws
a-bed, and let her in; after waiting till about 12
o’clock and nothing appearing, I lit the candle and
fearched the houlfe, thinking perhaps that the had
come in; and went to every room excepting that
where the two lodgers was a-bed, and to Levi’s room
I went to his door twice, but feemed as if I had not
power to enter, I thought perhaps fhe might be fit-
tii 7 by Levi’s flove. I then went to bed, and my
hufband was much furprized at my condult in fit-
ting up and fearching through the houle: I thought
perhaps fhe had ftayed at Henry Clements. The next
morning the boarders breakfafted early, about day
light, as ufual, Levicame to breakfat.

Queff. by the Court. Was any thing faid about
Elma at breakfaft, by any bedy.

Asfw. No, nobody mentioned her :——=After
he had been out awhile, I heard fome perfon
enter the houfe and run foftly up ftairs, and ex-
peted it was her, and intended to go and fee; foon
after which Levi came in, {aying, Is Elma got home 2 X
anfwered I have not feen ber » 1 felt provoked that he
thould afk me where the was, and thought that at leaft
he might be filent. He then faid, I am furprized
where fbe fhonld be, I anfwered [ expect fhe is up fiairs,
1 beard fome one go up ;5 he replied, it was me you heard :
X obferved, thee went more [oftly than ever before, and I'im
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Jure Lrbought it ber flep. He immediately run up flairs,
and inftantly returned, faying, fbe is not in the fecond
Jiory 5 1.did not believe him, and went up myfelf:
when 1 returned he was flanding 4t the front door
but dont recollet his faying any thing ; when 1 faid,
Im furprized where fhe fhould be, but went away ;
{ome time after he came 1n again and faid, Is Elma re-
turned? 1 anfwered no. Haveyou fentany where for
her? T anfwered no. He faid, why have not you? 1
anfwered, I did not think of [ending, expelting her in
every minute. He faid, I am furprized at her going
out fo late and alome. 1 faid, indeed Levi to tell
thee the truth, I believe the went with thee, fhe told
me fhe was to, and [ have good reafon to think the
¢il. He looked furprized, and faid, if fhe had gvne
‘with me the would have come with me, and I never
{1w her after fhe left the room. He then went out.

Qucftion by the court.—~Was there any thing un-
comuion in his manner ? :

Arfwer—There was to be fare, more than I can

exprels.
Lueftion by prifiner’s counsel —Do you mean that
this was after you exprefled yourfurprize? -
Anfwer~1 had obferved his looks fixed upon me
bf;:fore P
Queflion by court.—Did you tell him of this, did
you obierve to him that there was a difference in his
lock?

Anfwer.~1 did not then.

In a thort time after, the owner of the muff called

.
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for it, as Elma had promifed to return it the night
it was borrowed, or early the next morning; I told
her I would fend for ir, and the girl fhould fetch it
home as I expected Elma was at Henry Clements,
fthe anfwered the would fit with me, and fat down,
during which tme Levi came in, and {at until the
girl returned, faying, Elma had not bzen there., 1
was ftruck with aitonifhment, although my uneafi-
nefs had been great, yet I fully expelted fhe was
there ; the perfon immediately faid, I gueis the has
gone to be married, and that made her borrow my
muff ; I anfwered, married or not 1 think it very
ungoenerous not to return it, and likewile to keep
me in fuipence and uneafinels ; at which converfa-
tion Levi gave no anlwer, but fer with his head
down, and then he went out. Soon after this my
fifter returned ; in a fhort time after Levi came in,
the immediately attacked him, faying, where is El-
ma, 1 know thee knows, tcll me ingenuoufly for
Caty is very unealy, and fays Elma told her the was
going with thee, and fhe is fure the did; he looked
furprized, and faid, fpe told Caty fo? why if {he had
went with me, {he would have returned with me;
I never faw her alter the left the room, and am fur-
prized you would think of my keeping you in fufe
pence. The day pafled without much more bein

faid, except my faying 1 had been to the door fifty
times to look for her; he anfwered he had looked
more than fifty times, he could not keep his eyes
from the ftreet. The next morning being Tuelday
the 24th, after the boarders had breakfafted, none
of the family up but them and myfelf, they all went
out excepting Levi, who feeing me much diftreffed
walked the room feveral times, appearing much agi-
tated, came to me, and taking hold of my arm, faid,
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Mrs. Ring, don’t grieve fo, I am in hopes things
will turn out better than you expe ; to which 1
gave no anfwer, as I expeQted he was then going to
tell me the whole matter. He {oon however took
his hat and went away. Nothing more was faid un-
til afternoon, when myfelf and fifter being fo dif-
trefled ‘we determined to {tand it no longer, and we
were about to fend for him when he again came
in, laid down his hat; but on feeing our agiration,
ke turped round and was going out; I faid, flop
Levi, this matter has become {o ferious, I can ftand
it no longer; I then faid it certainly lays upon
thee, therefore thee muft make the beft of thy way
to get clear of it; he faid, he was willing to give
what fatisfattion he could, being forry to fee us fo
diftrefled, when ] faid if it had been many a perfon
that [ fhould have even been willing for her to have, I
would not have waited one hour before they fhould
Jizve oiven an account of her, but my confidence in
thee was fo great, and fearing too to make her trou-
ble, as the was bound not to difclofe it, is the rea-
fons why T did not immediately mention it. T then
proceeded : On firlt day after 12 o’clock, fhe came
down ftairs after being with thee, and told me,
that night at eight o’clock you were going to be
married, that you did not go till 8 o’clock on ac-
count of irs being froze. I had not proceeded much
further, if any, before he turned pale; trembled to
a great degree; was much agitated, and began to
cry, clafping his hands together, cried out, I'm ru-
ined—I'm ruined-—I’m undone forever, unlefs fhe
appears to clear me—my exiftence will be only a
burden—I had rather die in credit, than live under
it. Then he proceeded to clear himfelf, faying, he




{ 31 ¥

never would attempt to marry without his brother’s
approbation. I replied, fhe told me, thee had taik-
ed to him twice on the fubjeét; he faid my brother
can an{wer for himfelf. Thus he proceeded until we
were hardly able to fupportit; as our dependence
as to her, was intirely upon him, mnot having a
thought fhort of his knowing where fhe was.

On Thurfday, the 26th of December, about 10
o’clock, Margaret Clark and her fifter Deborah Clark,
being in the room with me, Levi came in ; fecing us
wnuch diftrefled, he {at down and endeavoured to com-
fort and confole us, {aying, Give ber up, fhe is gone ne
doubt, and all our grieving would do no good. With an
earneft look I turned to bim, faying, Levi, give me
thy firm opinion from the bottom of thy heart, forl
dont doubt thee has one ; tell me the truth, what thee
thinks has become of her.  He replied, Mps. Ring,
is my firm belief [be’s now in eternityy it certainly s,
therefore make yowrfelf eafy, for your mourning will never
bring ber back. 1 anfwered, why does thee fay fo?
what reafon has thee to think it ? Why from things
I've beard her drop.  What were they Latked. #by
I beard ber fay fhe wifbed fhe never had an exiffence.
I replied, if thee recollects, T dont doubt thee has
heard me fay {o, Tacknowledge it’s wrong and have
reproved her for it.

Queft. by prifoncr’s counfel. Pray Mrs Ring, did you
fay ygu had withed that you had never had an exift-
ence ?

Anfw. Yes il dare fay I have—in this very
eale, I might fay, I wifh I never bad an exifience to
witnefs fuch a feene. 1 acknowledge it’s wrong, but
thll I dont doubt T Liave often {aid fo. Tafked Levi,
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what other reafon has thee? Wby I bave beard her
threateny if fhe bad Laudanum, fhe would fwallow it.
Why Levi! How can thee fay fo? as it was.always
ealy for her to get that, it dont bear the weight of a:-
fingle ftraw with me, and the circumftance thee
alludes to, I believe T was prefent as well as feveral
others, which he did not deny, nor mention any other
time, which circumftance was this, my fiter was un-
well, the doftor had left a {mall phial with her, and
fhe bad it in her hand, clapped it up to her mouth,’
he faid £ima dont do fo, the teplied I fhould not be:
afraid to drink it if full, my hufband anfwered why the:
foolifh creature it would kill thee, the anfwered I
fhould not beafraid. Ithought the ipoke not thinking,
tho’ fhe was ufed to taking large quantities. when
fick, made her think light of it, but 1 fuppored fhe’
did it only to teaze him.

- T frequently converfed with him on the fubjed,
always pointing out the impoflibility of any other per-
fons knowing it, all which he never refented. On the
day of the proceffion he came to me faying Mrs.
Ring, what obje@tion have you to Hope’s going with
me to the alderman to fay what fhe can in my fa-
vour : Ianfwered yes, very great objections, if feven
believed thee innocent, which I have no reafon to
think, and its publicly reported of thee, if fhe was
even willing, which U'm fure fhe 1s not. Well then
let her go with my brother. Indeed I'veno choice in
thee or thy brother, if the authority calls for her, the
will anfwer 1 dare {ay to what’s proper. He then {aid

- Mrs. Ring, you are not fo much my friend as you

have been? Indeed Levi, I thudder to think I ever
indulged a favourable thought of thee.

Quest. How long was this before her death?
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Amsw. About three weeks,

Queft. by Affiffant Atr’y-Gen. Pray, Mrs. Ring,
I with you would be particular as to her temper and
difpofiticn on the z2d; pray, inform the court and
jury, was it compofed that afternoon ?

Anfw. Very much fo, I never faw her pleafanter
in my life—fhe was more fo than ufual.

Quet. What was her general temper of mind ?

Anfw. Very lively, open and free.

Lueff. Was is not more fo, than is ufual among
friends ?

Anfw. 1 always thought her dilpofition rather too
gay for a friend, and fhe altered her drefs and be-
haviour to pleafe me.

Lueft. Pray Madam, has fhe not always borne a
good charalter, I mean that of a modelt difcreet

irl.
& Anfw. Very much fo, I have known her from an
infant, but there are others that can fpeak of her,
who had not that partiality for her that 1 had.

Queft. Let me alk you, would not the condult
between the prifoner and her have been eftecmed
improper, if it was not [uppofed they were foon to
have been connelted in marriage ?

Anfw. Yes.

Queft. How old was the?

Anjw. About five years younger than myfelf, the
was about 22 at the time of her death.

Queft. Was Elma one of the Friends?

Anfw. She was not {o, though we withed her to be.

Queft. Pray what relation was fhe to you?

Anfw. She is my father’s filters daughter.

Lyeft. Had fhe parents living ?

Anfw. Her mother is alive at New-Cornwall ; her
mother never was married ; the took her mother’s

E
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name of Sands ; her father is in Charlefton, South.
Carolina. :

Queff. When was the body found ? :

Anfw. The 12th day after fhe left our houfe, or
the 2d of January. . .

CROSS-EXAMINED.

Queft. What was the charalter of Levi Weeks,
while he boarded in your houfe ?

Asifw. 1t was fuch as to gain ‘the efteem of eyery .
one in the family. ’

Queft. Was not his moral condudt good ?
Anfw. 1 never faw any thing amifs in it, I fhould ’
call it very good. '
Queft. Did you obferve whether the prifoner after
this affair of the 22d, eat his meals as ufual ?

Anfew. 1 believe he did.

Queft. Was Flma confidered as an affociate for
yourfelf and family ? .

Anfw. She was, I regarded her as a fifter.-

Que/t. Did the walk out with your family ever?

Anjw. Hope and Elma walked out together, they
were affociates. .

Sueft. Did Levi ever walk out with her?

Anfw. No, not as | know of. ,

Queft. Did he ever walk out with your fifter Hope?

Anfw. He went once to a Charity Sermon with
her, and Elma was to have gone too, but the going
was wet, and fhe was not very well, and I would
not {uffer her to go. ,

Queft. What was the appearance of Flma, the
day fhe went out, the 22d of December ?

_Anfw. She looked rather paler than ufual when |
pinned on her handkerchief—It was her natural
colour. :

Quet. What was the ftate of Elma’s health gen-
erally? B ‘

W
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Anrfw. For about a year paft the was at times ra-
ther unwell,

Queft.. Had fhe any habitual illnefs ?

Anfrw. She was much troubled with the cramp in
her ftomach.

- Queft. Where was her ufual lodging room ? ‘

Anfw. In the front room. She at firt flept in
the third flory before fhe wentinto the country, but
for three weeks before her death, fhe flept in the

back room in the fecond ftory.

Queft. Was it not next to Mr. Watkin’s bed room?

Anfw. 1t was next | believe.

Queft. Was there any other female in the houfe,
when you went to the country ?

Anfw. There was not. ;

Quept. Did you ever atk Levi whether he was en-
gaged to Elma?

Anfw. Never till Tuefday, after her death.

Quefts Nor faid a word about it to him ?

Anfw. No.

Queft. Did Levi appear lame in confequence of
the hurt in his knee, on the 22d?

Asfw. 1do not recollect.

Queft. Had you ever any reafon to fufpect that any
other perfon but Levi had an improper indmacy with
her ? :

Anfw.. Never,

Queft. Did you never fay that Mr. Weeks was 2

perfon of a kind difpofition ?

Anf Very likely, for T always thought him fo.

Queft. Did you never {ay that Levi was very at-
tentive to your children or any in your family, when
they were fick ?

Answ, 1 never did. T could not, for none of my
children ever was fick while he was in the houfe.
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- Queh. (by 4. A. Gen.) Do you know of what mate.
rials the wall between your houfe and Watkin’s is
compofed ?

Anf. 1 don’t krow.)

HOPE SANDS, being asked if fhe had obferv.
ed anv intimacy between the prifoner and the de-
céafed ? She-faid, the firt time I knew them to be
together in private, was about two weeks after J and
Elma came to town. Ithen found Leviand Elma to-
gether in her bed-room ; I was there with Elma when
Levi cime in, on which Elma gave me a hint, I imme-
diately went out, he followed me to the door and fhut
it after me, and locked it.—I went down ftairs, left -
my fhoes at the bottom of them, and went foftly up
to litten if | could hesr their converfation, but could
not underftand any thing although 1 heard a whifper-
ing and ftaid at the door along time, more than an
hour. Hearing fome perfon come in below, Irun
down, where 1 found Doctor Snedeker ; on my com-
ing into the room, Peggy Clark took the candle and
went up to the room where Leyr and Elma were; on -
finding the door locked, fhe returned, much {urprifed
at finding it faft, and asked me if 1 knew who was
there, 1 anfwered T will go and fee, the followed me
up to the door ; finding it locked, we went into the
next room, when the door was uniocked, and Levt
came out. I cbferved to Levi that he intended be-
ing very fafe, having fecured the door that Peggy
could not gain admittance; he then said, where i
Peggy, and Jooked into the room——but fhe ftepped
behind the door, fo that he did not fee her: he then
left us and went up ftairs. There was no light in
the room when 1 left them, neither when he came
out, therefore; I am pofitive they had not any. I then
went in and found Elina fitting on the bed.
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Queft. by prisomer’s counsel.  Did you ever tell Mrs.
Ring of this?
Answ Yes, told her the fame evening.
On Monday, the next day after fhe was mifling, a-
bout 10 or 11 o’clock in the forenoon, T met Lovi
up ftairs alore I atta ked him about her—"e denied
knowing any thing of her, though from his looks 1
was confident he did. He {oon began to ufe all puf-
fible mcans to convince me of Fis innocence. 1 re-
plied it was hard to judge one I had fo good an opi-
nion of, but he was certainly the perfon who could
give information of her if he chofe.  He {:id, de you
thirk if | knew where the was I would net tell you ¢
- The Sabbath evening after fhe was miffing. he
came to me faying, Hope, if you can {.y any thing
in my favor, do it, for you can do me more good than
any friend 1 have in the world to clear me; there-
fore, if you cun fay any thing, co it before the bod
is found, as after it will do me no good ; but if the
body is found a good way off, that will clear e, es
I was not a fufficient time from my brother’s to go
far,  He then prefled me very hard to go to the Al-
derman’s and fee him, I refufed ; upon which he
gave me a paper he had drawn, withing me to fign it :
the purport of the paper was, That he had paid no
more particular attention to Elma, than to any cther
female in the houfe—that nothing had paffed between
them like courtthip, or looking like marriage. I took
it from him, saying 1 {uppofed I might read it, and
left him without faying any more on the fubjed till-
the day of the proceflion. e then came to me a5’
ing, Hope, will you accompany me to fee the procef
fion ? I replied no, I have feen proceffions enough,
He then said—Hope, dont you intend to fign that pa.
per for me? Ianfwered no, -and drew it from my
pocket; I then pointed out to him the inconfiftency

- -
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of my doing it, saying—Leevi, if I was to doit, thee
knows it would be pofitive lies. He faid it would
be of no {:rvice to me, and reached out and took it
from my hand, faying, Will you go to the police with
me ? I anfwered no. He faid, Will you go with my
brother ? [ replied no, what better would it be to go.
and fay it, th:n to fign the paver ? He then asked me
if I would confuit my fifter upon it ? 1 ftill anfwered
no, for I was fure fhe would not confent to any fuch
thing, if I wasever {o inciined myfclf, which 1 am
very far from.
CROSS EXAMINED.

Queft.  Pray how long do you think it was, that
Leviand Elmna were locked up together at the time-
you mentioned ?

Anfw.” About an hour, T fhould think.

Quit Was not Levi as particular to you as he
wasto Elma ?

Anfw. No, he was not. :

Queft.  Was ngt Levi very much liked ? -

Anfw. He was very much, all {fpoke well of him.

Quep. Did Levi ever walk out with Elma, or
with you?

Anfw. He went once to the Mufeum with me
and Elma =~ He wenrt once to church with me of an
evening ; Elma was to have gone, but the was fick.
Inever knew him walk out with her but that time :

1 heard him fay one evening, That he believed the def-
pifed him, for fhe would never go in the ftrect with him,

Queft. Did he never ask you to go, in her prefence ?

Anfw. He once asked me to go, "to-his brother’s
but { could not conveniently ; Elma was prefentee
the faid, Why don’t you ask me ? He replied, I know
you would not go if 1 did.

Queft.  Did Jyou not flop at fome houfc in the
way to church ?
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Anfw. Yes, wedid ; we flopped at Ezra Weeks’,
the brother of Levi, '

ELIAS RING.—Levi Weeks, was a lodger in
my houfe, and in the gth monthe

Q. by prisoners Counsel. W hat month is that called ?

Anf. I don’t know it by any other name, thee can
tell.

Wit. At this time, when my wife was gone into
the country, Levi and Elma were conftantly to-
gether in private. | was aloneand very lonefome,
and was induced to believe from their conduét, that
they were fhortly to be married.  Elma’s bed was
in the back room, on the fecond flor; the front
room had a bed in it, in which Ifaac Harfie'd
flept about three weeks. Hatfizld during this time
was occafionally out of town. I fl:pt in the front
room below ; and one night when Huatfield was out
of town, I heard a ta'king and noife in his room.
In the morning [ went up nto the room and found
the bed tumblea, and Elma’s clothes which the wore
in the afternoon, lying on the bed.

Queft. Did you fee her in the room ?

Anfw. No; 1 faw nothing, but I have no doubt
fhe was there, for Hatfield was not there then, and
there was no other perfon in the houfe befides Levi
and his apprentice, and Elma and myfelf.

Queft. How late was it in the night, when you
heard this noife ?

Anfw. After 12 o’clock.

Queft. By one of the Fury. Did Elma, do vou fup-
pofe, get up fiom her bed, and go away naked ?—
You fay fhe left her cloaths. -

Anfw. She left part of her cloaths, fhe had two
fuits and this was part of the beft, which fhe had
on the day before, being Firft Day. -

Quef. By the dir'y Gewl. Did vou fee any thing
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improper or immodeft in the behaviour of Elma, un-
til fhe was acquainted with the prifoner 2

Anfw. No, never.

CROSS-EXAMINED. '

Queft. Did you ever {ee any intimacies between
Y.evt Weeks and Margaret Clark ?

Anfwo. 1 have f{een, formerly, fome familiaritieg
between them. ‘ .

9ueft, Did you never hear any noife when Hatfield
flept in the room over you:s :

Anfw. No. ' .

Duef. Did you ever know that the prifoner and
Elma were in bed together ?

Anfw. No.

@usft. What materials is the partition made of be-
tween Watkin’s houfe andyours ?

Anfw. 1t is a plank parition, lathed and plaiftered.

Bugf. Could you hear the noife of children thro’?

JAufw. No ; notas I can recollett.

Queft. Is Mr. Watkin’s a clever man and good
neighbor ? : )
Anfw. Yes he is. 4

Queft. Do you remember how Elma appeared on
the 22d of December?

Anfw. She was as cheerful and gay, as I ever faw
her. -

Q. Pray tell what you remember particularly about

~ that day.

A. Onthe 22d of December I had been to meeting
in.the afternoon ; I returned and found Elma drefling,
-and my wife helping her in dreffing, and aflifting her
in putting on her gloves. .About eight o’clock, Elma
‘went out, I faw her go out of theroom, and I heard
the front door open, and fhut about 3or 4 minutes
thereafter, and my wife took the candle and went out
‘and was gone about 2 minutes. The two boarders,




foacey and Ruflel came inm, and oue of them pull‘ed
out his watch and obferved it was § o’clocks

Queft. What kind of gloves were they ?

Answ. White long gloves, ‘

Qug/?. Are you cerrain they were white?

A Yes, I {aw my wife tie them on and took netice,

Queft. Did you hear her go up-fiairs ?

Anfw. Tam not cerrain that 1 heard any body go
up-ﬁ'{ﬁirs. When my wife returned, Iasked who
went out ? She faid Elmaand Levi; I anfwered that
it was wrong, fhe would get fick; fhe replied, he
will be more careful of her than I would be.

About 10 o’clock Levi came in. He asked if
Hope had gote home:; my wife anfwered no. He
asked, Is Elma goue to bed ? She anfwered no, the
is gone out. He oblerved it was ftrange fhe thould
go out fo late and alone.—[He corroborated the
reflimony of his wife, refpecting her own expreflion
and behaviour in the night.]

Queft. Have yvou not threatened the prifoner at
fome time fince this affuir happened P

Anfw. 1 never threarened him that 1 know of—1
had aconverfition with kim, 1n which he asked me
if 1 bad not faid certain things about him, refpe@ing
Elma being mifling, and he faid if I told fuch things
of him he would tei] of me and Croucher.

RQueft. by Atry Gew’l. Did you not tell him you
believed him guilty P—How did bz appear?

Anfw. T did; and he apprared as white as afhes,
and trembled all over like a leaf.

Qucft. by Counfel for Prifoner. What was the cha-
vacter of the prifoner previous to this, and how was
heliked inthe family ?

H
~

Anfw. Hlis character was always good, for any
as fuch, that he

thing I krow, and his behaviour was

was generally efteemed,

F
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3. Were you not the friend and proteftor of Elma?

Anfw. Yes.

Que/z. Did you ever {peak to her about her im.
proper intimacy with Levi? .

Anfw. 1 never did.

Q.” Did you hear any whispering in the entry or any_ .
body come down ftairs ? o
L A. 1did not, for I fet in the corner and was not
Y e attentice to thefe things.

e MARGARET CLARK —I lived at Mr. Ring’s
e about {ix months before Levi Weeks came to board
e there, and Guliclma Sands lived there. I went into. #
b the country on the 28th or 29th of Auguft, on ac-
,, count of the fever; and returned about the 12th of
b November.
‘ Queft. by A. A. Gen. Did you not obferve a very
particular kind of attention in the prifoner, to Elma?
Aafw. 1 can’tfay I did. 1 cant fay I thought
there was any thing that looked like courting her.—
After I returned, he and fhe appeared more inti-
mate together, which 1 fuppofe arofe from their hav.
ing been together, and while fhe was in the country.
9ueff.  Did you never know of their being locked
b up together ?
I Anfw. 1 knew once of their being locked up to-
. gether in the bedroom. Afterwards he tald me they
' were in the bed-room together. This was the Mon-
day evening before fhe was miffing. Another time’
I faw him standing in her room, when fhe was fick,
‘ ‘but | thought ncthing of this, becaufe he was always
‘l attentive to any one that was fick.
‘ 9uep.  Pray how long did you live in the houfe
do vou fuppole ? '

Anfw. 1 might have been abfent half the time,

Dugh by Prijener’s Courifel.  Bid not Levi pay as
much attention to Hope Sands, as he did to Elma?
Anfwo. Yes, 1 think he did and more too.
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 She corroborated the teftimony of the other witneffes
with regard to the cheerfulnef(s of temper of the de-
ceufed. | )

ISAAC HATFIELD.—I lodged at Mr. Ring’s,
from the 14th or 15th of September, four or five
weeks; I lodged in the front room, on the fccon_ci
floor 3 I obferved a great intimacy between the pri-
foner and the deceafed, fuch as to induce me to {up-
pofe he was paying his addrefles to her, with a view
to marry.— [hat the deceafed was of a lively and
cheerful temper. ’

RICHARD DAVID CROUCHER.— May it
pleafe the Court and Gentlemen of the Jury, [was
2 lodger but not a boarder in Mr. Ring’s houfe; 1
remained at the houfe all the time of Mrs. Ring’s ab-
fence, and paid particular attention to the behaviour of
the prifoner and the deceafed, and I was fatisfied frem
what I faw, there was a warm courtfhip going on; 1
have known the prifoner at the bar, to be with the de-
ceafed Elma Sands, in private frequently and all tumes
of night, Iknew himto pafs two whole nights in her
bed room. Once lying in my bed, which flood in
the middle of the roem, and 1n a pofture which was
favourable to {ee who pafled the ‘door, and which I
affumed on purpofe. Ihad fome curicfity ; I faw che
prifoner at the bar ceme out of her room, and pafs
the door mb}ixs fhirt only, to his own room. Once too
at a time When they were lefs cautious than ufual, {
faw them in a very intimate fituation. '

Q. Did you tell any one of this?

A. Inever took notice of it to any one.

CROSS-EXAMINED.

Q. Pray what countryman are vou?

A. An Englifbman; Y have been in this county
fince January, 1799.

Q. Where, fir, was vou on the night of the 12d 0¥
December, 1790, -
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A. Ifupped that nightat Mrs. Afhmore’s but |
that’s not herreal name; it is 884 Bowery lane; & |
was the birth day of her fon—ifhe has had a good deal '
of my money, and I thet I would go and fup with her,

I went accordingly. In the courfe of the evening
when the deceafed was miffing, I croffed twice or three
times from Greenwich-ftreet to Broadway and was
once, at the Coffee-houfe ; I went cut to the Bowery
and returned to Mrs. Ring’s.

Q. What time did you return home that night ?

A. It was my agreement with Mrs. Ring, to be ?
at home at 10 o’clock a’nights, but on this occ:fion,
I ftaid out till eleven or half paft eleven.

Q. Dayou know where the Manhattan wellis?

A. T1do. ' :

Q_ Did you pafs by it that evening ;‘

A, T1did not—I with I had—I might, perhaps,
have faved the lifz of the deceafed.

. Have you not faid you did ? 7 L

Al No. | might have faid 1 wifhed 1 had.

Have you ever had a quarrel with the prifoner
at the bar?

A. 1 bear him no malice. ‘

But have you never had any words with him?

A. Oncelhade—the reafon was this, if you with
me to tell it:—Going haftily up ftairs, T fuddenly
came upon Elma, who ftcod at the dodb—fhe cried
out Ah'! and fainted away. On hearing this the pri-
foner came down from his room, and faid it was not
the firft timel had infulted her. 1 told him he was
an impertinent puppy. Afterwards, being fenfible of
his error, he begged my pardon, ‘

And you fay you bear him no ill wilf?

A, Ibear him no malice, but I defpife every man
who does not behave in character..

. How ne-r the Manhattan well do you think
you paffed that night.
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A. 1 believe I might have paffed the Glue manu-
factory.

Q. Do you not know what rout you teok ?

A. Ido not 3 [ cannot certainly fay, I might have
pafled by one rout or by another : 1go fometiines by
the road, fometimes acrofs the field.

Q. Wasitdark ?

A, 1 believe there was a little moonlight-~the go-
ing was very bad.

Quef. by A. A. G.  Mr. Croucher, have you ever
heard anyneile in the room of the prifoner at an un-
common time of night, fince this affair happened ?

Awnf. Yes, Sir, 1 have. The night the deceafed
was mifiing and the next night, and every fucceedin
night while he ftaid in the houfe, 1 heard him up
whenever I waked at all times from 11 o’clock at
night till 4 in the morning, and a continual noife al-
moft. I thought then his brother had fome great
work on hand and that he was drawing plans; but
fince I have accounted for it in a different way.

Q. &y Prifoner’s Counfel. What kind of noifes were
thefe ?

A. The noife of moving about chairs, throwing
down the tongs, and fuch kind of noifes.

Q. Were you ever upon any other than friendly
terms with Elma.

A. After I offended the prifoner at the bar, who
fhe thouglit was an 2donis, 1 never fpoke to her again,

HENRY REYNOLDS —This witnes teftifi-
ed that he had known the deccafed from a child, that
they had been brought up together, and that her cha-
racter had always been, that of a modeft, difcreet
young woman, and of a lively and very cheerful dif-
pofition.

- JOHN BENSON.—This witnefs had refided at
Mr. Ring’s fome days, owing to the prevalence of
the yellow-fever, but he never faw any thing very
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particular in his attentions to her ; he faid fhe was 2
gitl of a lively, cheerful difpofition.

WILLIAM ANDERSON.—(the Apprentice of
the Prifoner.) 1 never faw any thing to make me to
fuppofe that my mafter was more particular in his at-
tentions to Kima, than to the other two, Margaret
and Hope. Oneday my mafter faid to'me, you muft
not think it firange of my keeping Elma’s company,
it is not for courtfhip nor difhonor, but only for

.converfation. One night I pretended fo be afleep,

and the prifoner undrefled himfelf, and came with
the candle and looked to fee if T was afleep or not,
fuppofing I was, he went down ftairs in his fhirt, and
did not come back till morning.

Queft. Did your mafter always {leep with you ?

Answ. Yes,

Quet. How did he reft the night Elma was mif-
fing, and the next ? :

+ Answ, He flept as well as'ufual the night Elma was
mifling, and Monday and Tuefday-nights, but on
Wednefday-night, near -day, he fighed out in his
{leep, Oh! poor Elmore!

He agreed with the other witnefles as to her be-
ing of a lively, cheerful difpofition, but he thought
fhe appeared lefs fo that day before fhe was miffing.

SUSANNA BROAD, anaged and very infirm
woman. [ live oppofite Ezra Week’s lumber-yard,
and on the night when the deceafed was loft, I heard
the gate open and a fley or carriage come out of the
yard about 8 o’clock, it made a rumbling noife, but
had no bells on it, and that it was not gone long be-
fore it returned again.

CROSS-EXAMINATION OF SUSANNA BROAD.
. How did you know it was 8 o’clock ?
A. Becaufe my fon and daughter was gone to meet-

" ing and mecting is done about 8 o’clock.

Q. Had your fon and daughter returned before the
fleigh went out ?




A, T don’t know what they had, T believe they had
not then. '

Q. Had the y returned before the fley came back !

Al h<=y wcxe abed,

(). When was this, what month was it ?

A. Tdont know the month, 1 know 1t was o,

Q. Was it after Cl hriftmas or bofore Chriftmas ?

A Tt was after I belizve, it was in January.

Q. Tl mw’m are fure of, it was in January youfay 7

A, Yes; Iam fure it was in January.

Q. Did you ever hear this gate open before ?

AT No, gentlemen; do you think [came here to
tella lie ?

Q. Nor fince?

A. No, gentlemen, no.

Q. When did you firfl remember about this {leigh’s
being taken out ?

A. When I faw this young woman at Mrs, Ring’s
and help'd to hy her out.

Q. by A. A.G. Did you oblerve any marks of
violence when you laid her out ?

A. Tfound no bruifes except on the right fhoulder
where T felt and it was foft; but 1 thought her neck
was broke.

A THFRIN LY I\' m()n i‘“e Suncay night

pump near the door of the new Furnace, 1 fiw

Gulielma Sands, a little after egj’ o’cioils, myfelf

was attending a lame woman who lav in i
and Elma asked who it was; there was a good
many people passing, and 1 could not fav if
was with her or not; but I heard fomel
“ler’s go,” and the deceafed bid me cood ni
jand went on; there. was men passing befere and
behind, but whethﬁr I company wit! !
not tell.  About a half an hour or |}
Elma, T heard from the fields

behin
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Lifpenards a cry in a woman’s voice of ¢ murder,
murder, Oh fave me 1” ‘
CATHARINE LYON, CROSS-EXAMINED.

Q_ Did you fee the face of Elma?

A, Tdid not, but I knew her form and ﬂxape

Q. Did you fee any fleigh at this time, when you
faw the girl ?

A. No,T did not.

Q. Where were you when you heard the cry you
fpeak of ?

A. Inthe front of Lifpenards.

. How long after you faw this woman you fup-
pofe to be Elma?

A. About halfan hour., ‘

MARGARET FREEMAN.—On the Sunday-
night before Chriftmas, in the upper part of Greens
wich-ftreet, as I and my children was coming home
from Meeting, I was holding my boy by the arm, a
one hoife fleigh overtook meas I was walking in the
middle of the road, with two men and 2 woman in it;
all talking and laughing very lively, particularly the
woman ; I kept outof the way forit to pafs, When
I came in I ran up flairs, and loaking at the watch, I
faw it was a quarter paft § ; the watch was rather flow.

CROSS-EXAMINED.

9ueft. How long ago is it fince you were firft ap-
plied to, refpecting this affair ?

Anfw. Four or five weeks ago——3 or 4 weeks

* after the fleigh overtook me.

Queft. Are you fure, Mrs, Freeman, that this was
before Chriftmas?
Aifw. Tam pofitive it was,
Queft. What meeting was it you had been to ?
Anfw. The Methodiit Church.
Queft. Did you ever fee Ezra Weeks” fleigh any
where ?

Anfe. Tdon't know as I ever did.
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Queft. Was it a dark night ? “

Anfw. Not very dark, but the moon did not {hine.

WILLIAM LEWIS.—On the Monday mcrning
before Chriftmas, I and my wife was coming to town
in a wood f{leigh, and 1 difcovered the track of 2
one-horfe {leigh, about three hundred feet from the
Manhattan Well, up the new road which Col. Burr
had built, and 1 found the fleigh had drove fo near
the wall, that I obferved it was a wonder that it had
not turned over. I had pafled that way the Sunday
morning before, and there was no track there then
the fleigh appeared to tave gone up towards the Bal-
loon houle je—] thought {omebody had mifled their
way, for there was no road there, and this mazde me
fo particularin my obfervation. I obferved that there
was one board off the well, which left it open, it may
be 12 or 13 inches—there was tracks of peop'e round
the well.

CROSS-EXAMINED.

Queft. Is not that road a very bad one.

Anfw. Yes.

Queft. Is it not fo bad that no body could drive
there in the night, even flowly, without great danger ?

Anfro. The road is bad, but I think I would have
gone it.

Queft. Do you think you could have found the well
in the night ?

Anfw. 1 could have found it the darkeft night that

ever was; it would be only to keep along close by
the fence.

ANN LEWIS, wife of the laft witnefs, corrc
borated what was faid bv her hufband.

BUTHRONG ANDERSON.—I was fent for
by a neighbor to go to a chriftening 5 I had been to
Mr. Pilmore’s charch; T live in Wiillam-frect, No.,
280, it was the Sunday night before Chrifimas ;3 I

F




wentout of meeting with company, up the Bowery,
as far as the two mile fton=, and down Broadway —
On my rerurn down the middle road. I was overtaken
by a onc horf: fleigh, about half paft eight in the eve-
ning, cna full gallop, with two or three men or wo-
menin ity 1 cant {sy whether they were men or wo-
men. I he horfe feemed to e dark cclored.

Qugft . Have you n.t, Sir, feen Ezra Weeks
drive 2 horfe that appeared to you of the fame fize
and coler with this 7 (

Anfw..  1have feen him drive fuch a one, I'think,

CROSS EXAMINED.

Quet. Do you pretend to diftinguifh the color of
a horfe in the mght?

Anfiv.  Not exall V-—~bnt I know thaf he was not
light colored.

Queft.  Can you determine the fize of a horfe when
he is on a gallop, and as yeu {2y, on a full gauop ?

Anfw. Ithink he was {uch a fized horfe as I have
defcribed him. :

JOSEPH STRINGH! 1\’! & ]ODEPH CORN-
WELL -—axhxfe witnefles were in the fleigh with
Anuerfon and corroborated his teflimony.  They

fixed the Sundﬁy to be after Thanksziving, which
WLS the 1oth December. They added, that when

he fingle fleigh pafled them on a full gal op, they
bu;'z ied, as is ulual on fuch occafions, but the two
men took no notice, ‘
’\ ARNETTA VAN WORDEN.—We live about
half way from Broadway to the wel. About 8 or
g o’clock in the ¢vening, my husband heard a noife,
a~d he ftood up and obferved it was from the well. 1
then looked through the window, 'and we heorag a wo-
man cry cut from tewards the well, <t L.ord have mer-
cy on me, Lord help me.’

LAWRENCE VAN I\ORDE’\I busband of the
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iast witnefs. On the Sunday right that the gl was
mifling, I found by calenlation after fhe was found
in the wcxl, it was the fame, I heard a voice of a
woman cry out (Jh Lord have merev upsnme ! What
fhall Tdo ? Help me ! 1 got upand looked out of
the window ; it was a clear niph fm lip I got

1

vat Icouid, and

up out of ted ro hear and {ce

bl
Y
I looked out of the window towar 30 the well, T can

fee the well fiom m,r r«m(e, and [ heard this noife

that Tt vou of, and I locked then to the well, and
I faw 2 man walmnﬂ pear the well, abour the well,
in a fittle time the cries ftopped and I wentto bed

again.
CROSS-EXAMINED.

Queft. Flow near do yo u live to this well ?

A;f,t) About a 100 yard

Queft. Was there how on the ground ?

ﬂuzf,u. Yes.

(,,, . Did you {le a {leigh at the [ame time ¢

Anj . No

Quap. by A. A, Gen. Might *here not have been 2
fleigh there Wul" you could Cnotfee from your cham-
ber window ? Dl put the greflicn a little more par-
ticularly—-Is not the meke of the ground fuch, tnu
it a fleich waus ﬁ%nuzug neur the fence at t}m weil
you would look over it fiom your window, in loosmg
at the weil ?

Aafw. T don’tkaow 5 I never minde

Q/ﬂ@' by Prifoner’s Counfel. s there any noufe nea
vyour’s ?

sifw. There is one, a red houfe, about yards
off.

Q[w" id yougo to the well the next raorning to
make any examination ?

A:fw. I\l‘(,),
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Queft. Did you mention this, or what you faw and
Zeard to any body the next day ?

Anfw. Notas I can remember.

THOMAS GRAY and SAMUEL SMITH~—
two lads, were next called, the one 11 the other 13
years of age, but being asked by the court, if they
knew what an oath was, they faid they did not, and
being asked, faid that they could not read, and did
not know what an oath required of them. They were
rejeéted as incompetent..

JACOB CAMPBELL.—I know nothing about
this affair of my own knowledge.

HENRY ORR —On the 22d of December, af-
ter dark, I went from my houfe near the Union Fur-
nace, to ahoufe near Mr. Benfon’s, and 1 ftaid there,
Ifhould judge about an hour, and then came down,
and when I got near Lewis’s fence, I heard a cry in
the directicn of the baloon houfe; it was the voice
of a woman, towards the well in diftrefs.—~When I
got nearer the well I heard another cry, but the fe-
cond cry was not fo loud as the firft, but rather fmo-
thered.

- CROSS-EXAMINED.

Queft. When was this—what time in the evening?

Anf. 1t was fix or feven minutes before, or fix or
feven minutes after nine.

Queff. How do you know that this was the time?

Anf. T am fure it was near nine when I left Henry
Luther’s, the cartman, near Col. Benfon’s.

WILLIAM A. BLANCK. The witne's appear-
ing very young, he was afked by the Court how old
he was? he faid about thirteen. He acknowledged
e could not read, although he had been at fchool, but
he fometimes faid his prayers. ‘Being afked if he knew
whit an oath was, he faid he did not. He was fet

afide. .
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ANDREW BLANCK, father to the boy.

Quet. by Afilf. Atr’y. Gen. Pray fir, whatis your
fon’s age !

Anf. He is thirteen ?

Queft. By the Cours. Can he read?

Anf. Ne, I believe he cannot.

Court. Go on, fir,

One dzy my fon brought home a muff which he
faid he gotin the well. 1 went the next day ro the
well, and looked in, but I faw norhing. 1 difcovered
a fley track about eight or ten feet from the well, and
I faw men’s tracks to the well and about it, and a
good deal of tracking on thelower file of ity one
man’s track I noticed from the well to the road.

Queft. by Atior. Gen. Wili you deferibe the track—
was 1t large or {inall ?

Anfiw. The foot was large, with a heel to it, flat.

[Mrs. Ring being called, and atked what kind of
ihoes Elma wore, fhe {aid her fhoes had no heels to
them, and her feet were flim and rather long.

CROSS-EXAMINATION.

ﬁ\;ﬂ/’ What day was this, fir ?

Answ. The muff was found the Tuefday before
Chriftmas, and I went there on Chriftmas day. ‘

Queft. by Attor. Gen. What fort of a flay track was it
you faw ?

Anfw. A one horfe fleigh.

[ Here feveral of the Counfel made a requeft
to the Court to adjourn till next day, as it was now
half paft onein the morning, and it feemed not very
probable that the Trial could be difpofed of till fome
time m the night following. The Court-feemed dif-
pofed to fit, but fome of the Jury informed them that
it would not be poffible to keep themfelves fufficiently
awake to attend, upon which the Court concluded to
adjourn till 10 o’clock next day, and two constables
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werz {worn to keep the Jury together till morning,
in fome private and convenient place 5 and two more
were {ent to wait upon them and bring them what re-
frefhments they might want.) :
TUESDAY, APRIL 1.
PRESENT AS BEFORE.

RICIHTARD C. SXINNER —

Quef- 2y A. A. Gen. Do&or Skinner, are you not a
{forgeon 1n this cicy, and did not you {ee the body of
Elma Sands after it was taken out of the well, and
examine it ?  Pray, Sir, inform the court and jury:

Ans. I folow a branch of furgery, but I do not pre-
tend to be a profefled furgeon. I am a dentift, but I
have made the fubjed of furgery generally my fiudy. I
faw the corpfe of the devealed twice. I had buta
fuperficial vicw, however, of it, as it lay in the coffin,
expofed to the view of thoufands; I examined f{uch
parts as were cume-at-able—~Such as her head, neck
and breaft. I di‘covered feveral bruifes and fcratches,
particularly a bruife upon the forehead and chin, and
upon the left breaft or near it.

Quejtion, by the Court. How long was this after
fhe was taken out of the water ?

Anf. 1 do not know.

Queft. bythe AL A.G. Will youdefcribe thofe marks
more particularly ?

Awnf. 1 think that the mark upon the neck had the
appearance of a comprefsion, but not by a rope or
handkerchief. It was fugg: fted by a number that the
neck was broken, and 1 examined it and difcovered
that it was not.

Qucfiion by the Court. What was the colour of the
fpots ?

: Anf Thofe on the neck were reddith, black fpots.
There were feveral {mall fpots which might have
The ap-
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pearance upon the breaft was zbout as large as the
circamference of a dollary it was a {fmall bruife, but
it was more difficul: to examine that than the other:
there was a numnber of women prefent.

Queft. Was the comprefsion which you {p oke of
round her neck, fuch as might have been made by
the hand ?

Anf. My imprefsion then was and now is that it
7as,

Queft. As to the feratches of which you fpcak :

Anf. They were {mall fuch as might arife from a
nail.,

A. A, G. Well fir, go on and defcribe what you
faw.

On the forehead and chin the contufion was not
very larp\,, but the skin was broken.

Qaffr £y el G. Were you acquainted with Mr.
and Mrs, Ri: a3,

Anf 1 did not know any of the parties.

Queft. by the Cours. Dedor Skinner, was the appear-
ance {uch as might have Leen produced by the froft ?

Anf. Tdo not think it was,

Queft. Would not the immerfion in the water, or
froft give the app;axance that you ;nention, of thofe
livid fpots ?

Anf. T thivk not, but am not certain.

Quest. by A. A. G, Were the {pots in a chain
round the neck ¢

Anf. There were feveral {pots pretty much i
row on the neck,

CROSS-EXAMINATION.

Queft. Do you fay fir, you are certain that the fpots
wert

ina uno round the .1edr !

Aanf. T cannot f(y that they were in an exadt circle
not particy larly 5 1 think they were regular, but cm-

nat 4'\(?(“[‘] ;q)\r
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Queft.  Were they, Sir, fpots or lines ?

Anf.  They were {mall fpots, not lines.

Queft. May fuch foots not bave happen’d from a
different mode than that of ftrangulation ?

Anf. 1 am incapable of judging how they mlght
have happened.

Quest. by A. Attr’v. Gen.  Suppofe, Door,
a'perfon had been ftrangled by the hand, would it not
have left fuch an appearance upon the body

Anf. 1 think it would,

{ JAMES W.LENT—On the 2d of January laft,
I together with Mr. Page, had fome bufinefs to do in
breakmv a hotfe, and we went up to Andrew Blancks,
and we dined there : Blanck infited upon it.  While
we were dining two perfons, Mr. Watkins and
Mr. Elias Ring, came there to get hooks and poles to
found the Manhattan well for the body of a young .
woman who was fuppefed to be drowned. We got
the poles and nails and went all together to the well,
which we uncovered. Page took “the pole firft and
faid he thought he felt her; I took hold then and
thought I felt her too. Watkins drove in the nails,
I took the pole and hooked the nail in her clothes
and drew her up carefully to the top of the water :
foon as Mr. Ring {aw her callico gown he faid it Was,
the, he knew the gown. She was fo heavy now we
could not draw her out by the nail and the little boy
went for a rope to the next houfe, while I held her
til. ] put the rope under her and drew her up gent-
ly, fhe flew’d round but there was not a thread of her
ciothes which touched either fide of the well. When
fhe was drawn up we laid her on a plank, and fhe ap-
peared in fuch a firuation as if the had been murdered.

Counfel for the prifoner. You»re to tell what you faw,
not what conclufion you made—T hat is for the Jury.

Proceed —Her hat was off, her gown torn open
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juft above the waift, her fhawl was off, and her hand-
kerchief and fhoes were gonc; her hair hung over
her head. Inlifting her up I found her head fell for-
ward and when we lifted her a little back her head
fell back again, and again it fell to the right, which
caufed me to fuppofe her neck was broke.  She had
a white dimity petticoaton. I difcovered on her right
hand {omething like a kick, there was the {craches of
fand upon her skin, fome of which was knocked off
and {zemed to have been drove torward. Her ftockings
were torn at the toes; the right foot was bare and
fomewhat f{cratched 5 the feratches were on the upper
part of the foot, as if the had been dragged on the
ground.

Queft. (by the Court.) Did you examine her body?

Anf. T did not-—the flockings, as far as could be
feen without lifung up the petticoat, was whole and
good.

Queft. Were there any bruifes upon theface ?

Axnf. 1do not recolleét, there might have been.

Queft.  Might you not have injured the head with
the pole ?

Anf. Not at all—the pole did not touch her head «
I was particularly tender with it—I hooked her in the
skirt of her gown.

Queft.  Were her limbs fhiff ?

Anf.  Her arms were—her legs were firait, but
her neck was remarkably limber.

Queft. How did her countenance appear ?

Anf. It looked like a perfon wio had been walli-
ing againft the wind—fluth, but not fo much fo as
fhe appeared a few days after. Her appearance was
horrid enough—her hat and cap off, her hair banging
all over her head, her comb was yet hanging in her
hair, tied with a white ribbon; her fhawl was off ;

B
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her gowa was torn open with great violence, and her
thoes were off.

Queft. “Was the ftring of her gown broke or the
collar torn ?

Anj. Tdidnot difcover that they were—1It appear-
ed as if the knot by which they had been tied, had
{fomehow fitpped. , ;

Queft. (by one of the Fury) Were the fingers bruifed ?

Anf. They feemed jambed, like a kick.

Quefz. Didyon fee fand, and what kind of fand ?

Axf. Tdid not fec any faad, but the marks of
fond as it fecmed.

Quest. by Prijoer’s Counfel. How do you know the
fcratches were made up or down ?

Q. It only appeared fo to me.

T went to the Police, and then with the officer to find
the prifoner 3 we ftaid a little back’ till we faw the
officer tap him on the fhoulder; I then went up to
him, he flood in the door; I fays, is this the young
man? he replies, yes. I told him I was very forry
for his ficnation—1. felt affeGted-—1 expreffed it to
hime-he turned about and faid. it is too hard, and he
dropped his head and said TIs it the Manhattan well
fhe was found in? I{aid 1 knew not what well the
was found iny 1 did not then know the Manhattan
well—this was about half paft three in the afternoon ;
however, 1 dont know exactly the time but by calcu-
lation. I fuppefe the body was found about 15 mi-
nutes after we had left Blanck’s boufe.

Q. (by one of the Fury.) Was there any mention
made of the Manh tran well, in the prefence of the
prifoncr before he asked the queftion?

A 1 did not hear any, 1 dont believe there was.

Was you prefent when he firft faw the body—
what did he fay ? .
[ An objection was made by the prifoner’s counfel,




o T GRS

9]

(23

L

as to the propriety of this kind of evidence, but was
over ruled by the Court.]

A, In procezding to the well he asked for his
brother as counf:l for him-~when we came there,
we tound a grew number of people coliedte!—I f{tep-
ped before nim, and fuid—Weeks, do yeu know thar
young woman that lies there a corpfe?  Iefaid, 1
think I know the gown. wiy young friend, faid I,
that 1s not the g L.luoui ack You——is therg no marks
In t'.at countenance you know ! he turn’d himfelf and
faid, I think cere is

Q. Wi fhe not a natural corpfe ?

A It feesad fo—the locked asif fhe was afleep
feeoringly—1 never faw he; alive.

Q. lyone of the Jury. How long after he was taken
befire he asked if the was found in the Manhattan
well ?

AL 1 don’t exadlly know how many tinutes. |

Jr. JAMIES SNEDECIHER —

Q. Pruy, Sir, are you not a Phyfician and live in
this city ?,

A. 1 am a phyficin and live in Barley-ftreet, 28
years of age. 1 faw the body the 2d or 3d day after it
was taken out of the well. 1 was informed that it
was much injured and I examiaed it.  There was
many diicolourations on the teguments of the skin.
There was a aflocation L,r the clavercle from the
fternum.

chmﬂz“atm;fmy General.  Be fo good, Sir, as to
fpeak inles technica language, fo that the Jury may
underftand ou.

Hoitnefs. i thought the left collar bone was broke.
Her fingerg appeurcd to have buen {cratched from the
knuckles down ; there was many diflocations. 1 faw
v mark upon her breaft as large as a dollar, black and

,
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blue. Hearing that her neck was injured I examined
it, but I did not find it {o.
CROSS-EXAMINED.

Q. Do you fay the bone was broke, Sir?

A. The diflocations induced me to think the bone
was broke and I run my thumbs one over another and
1 thought I felt that the bones were diflocated from
the breaft bone,

Q. &y the Cours. Is it not common for a body to
affume fuch an appearance as this had, in the firft stage
of putrefacion where there has been no violence com-
mitted on it ?

A. 1 do not think it 1s.

. Will cold or immerfion in water, or fucden fuf-
focation preduce fuch an appearance.

A. 1 dont pretend to fay whether it will or no.

Q. Does not a corpfe expofed to the air put ona
Livid appearance ¢

A. Yes it does.

DOCTOR DAVID HOSACK.—(Q. Did you
fee the body, Sir, and when and what was its appear-
ance?

A. 1 donot recoliet the exat day, but curiofity
Jed me in common with many others to vifit the bo-
dy; it lay expofed in a coffin. 1 remember it was
upon the fame day the body was interred.

Q. How long was this, Sir, after it was taken out
of thé water ?—Pray inform us what you faw ?

A. The only appearance which attracted my par-
ticular attention was, an unufual rednefs of the coun-
tenance; and upon looking at the neck I obferved three
or four dark colored {pots, of an irregular fhape, but
not in an exact line as if they had been produced by a
cord, but rather the effe@ of a violent preflure upon
the neck—the hands were expofed, and I obferved
upon the back of them feveral {cratches.
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. Did youexamine the collar bone ?

A. 1 did not.

Could fuch appearances as you faw have been
produced by fuffocation merely ?

A, I afcribed the unufual rednefs of the counte-
nance to the fudden extin&ion of lite, and the expo-
ure to air.  For in the many cafes of fudden death by
opium, ligi tning, poifor, ora blow on the head,
the florid appearance of the countenance have that
appearance.

§ QQ  Are you not fir, decidedly of opinion that the
livid fpots which you have deferibed, were the effect
of viclence? '

A, Tam.

Q. Couldany perfon, in your opinion, have com-
mitted {uch anaét of violence on their own purfon as
to have produced fuch effects ¢

A. 1do not think it could be done.

Q. &y the Court—Could fuch a change have been
produced by immerfion in water ?

A. T1do not think it could.

Suppofe there had besn this immerfion, would
it have required to be expofed any length of time in
the air to produce the {pots ?

A. The appearance fome diftance of time after
death, will be different from what it is immediately,

Q_ dy prisoner’s counsel.  Would the hand, by graf-
ping the neck violently, produce fuch effects as you
mention.

A. T believe it would.

What was the bignefs of the fpots round the

[——

necic ¢

A. The largeft {pots, thofe near the wind-pipe
were about an inch and an half, the fmalleft might be
three quarters of an inch. I fill think that the livid
fpots which | {aw, were the effe® of injury done.

R SRR
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‘i‘, ELIZABETH OSBORN ~~I kad a flight ac-
quaintance with Elma Sands: On the 22d of Decem-
ber, I lent her my muff, fhe came :0 borrow it herfelf,
and I obferved that fhe was.very neatly dreffed, and
fhe {eemed to be very lively and very happy.

Q. When was the muff’ brought home to you ?

A. Tt wasbrought home the day that the was found,
and it appe red as if it had been wet.

Q. Did you underfiand it was found in the well ?

A ldid

Some converfation arifing, as to the time when the
muff was found, it was admitted by the Attorney-
General, that it was found {ome days before the body
was difcovered.

Mr. Wirniams teftified that at the requeft of the
Attorn y-General, he had made an experiment in
what time a man might drive a horfe the molt ufual
rout from Ring’s to the Manhattan -well, and from
there back again to i"zra Week’s down Barley-{treet,
and that although the roads were bad, he performed
it once in 15 minutes and once in 16, without going
out of a trot.

SyLvisTER Buskirk was with the last witnels at
the time he fpoke of, and corroborated what he faid,
He teftified that I'zra Week’s houfe had ftood in his
ftable for fale, and was a good horfe to appearance.

Mr. Cross teftified tnat he is acquainted with Ezra
Week’s horfe, and calls him a very good one, thinks
he will go a mile in 5 minutes.

The evidence being clofed, the Afliftant Attorney-
General addreflen a tew words to the jury on the
nature of circumtantial evidence, and read the fol-
lowing paflage from Morgan’s Effay, p. 208.

Crecunitantial evid:nceisall that can be expected,
and indeed all that is necefary to {ubfantiate fuch a
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charge. The prejudice entertained againft receiving
circumftantial evidence is carried to a pitch wholly in-
excufahle.  In fucha cafe as this it muft be received,
becauft the rature of the erquiry, for the moft part,
does not admit of any other 3 and, confequently, it is
the beft evidence that can poflibly be given. But tak-
ing it in a more general ferfe, a concurrence of cir-
cumftances (which we muft always fuppofe to be pro-
perly authenticated, otherwife they weigh nothing)
forms a ftronger ground of belief than pefitive and
dire® teftimony generally affords, efpecially when
unconfirmed by circumftances.  The reafon of this
is obvicus : a pofitive allegation may be founded in
miftake, or, what is too common, in the perjury of
the witne{s ; but circumftances cannot lie ; and a long
chain of well connected fabricated circumftances, re-
quires an ingenuity and skill rarely to be met with;
and fuch a confiftency in the perfons who come to fup-
port thole circumftances by their oaths, as the annals
of our courts of juftice can feldom produce. Be-
fides, circumflantial evidence is much more eafily dif-
cufled, ‘and much more eafily contradicted by tefti-
mony if falfe, than the pofitive and direct allegation
of a fa&, which, being confined to the knowledge of
an individual, cannot poflibly be the fubje@ of con-
tradiction founded merely on prefumption and proba-
wility,
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The TestiMoNy on the part of the profecution
being clofed, one of the Counsel for the Prisoner
then opened the defence, and addrefled the Jurors
to the following effet :—

Gentlemen of the Fury,

'THE patience with which you have hﬂened
to this lengthy and tedicus detail of teftimony is ho-
norable to your charaters. It evinces your folicitude
to difcharge the awful duties which are impofed upon’
you, and it affords a happy prefage, that your minds'

“are not infefted by that blind and undifcriminating’
prejudice which had already marked the prifoner for
its vi&im. ‘

You have relieved me from my greate{‘t anxiety,’

for 1 know the unexampled induftry that has been ex-’
erted to deftroy the reputation of the acculed, and to
immolate him at the thrine of perfecution without the’
folemnity of a candid and impartial trial. Tknow that
hatred, revenge and cruelty, all the vindigtive and
ferocmus pafions have affembled in terrible array and.
exerted every engine to gratify their malice. The’
thoufand tongues of rumour have been fteadily em-
ployed in the fabrication and diffemination of falfe-
hoods, and every method has been taken to render
their flanders univerfal. We have witnefled the ex-
traordinary means which have been adopted to enflame’
the public pafhions and to dire the fury of popular
refentment againft the prifoner. Why has the body
been expofed for days in the public ftreets in a man-
ner the moft indecent and fhocking 7—to attraét the
curiofity and aroufe the feelings of numberlefs fpeta-
tors. Such drcadful feenes fpeak powerfully to the
paffions : they petrify the mind with horror—congeal
the blood within our veins—and excite the human
bofom with irrefiftible, but undefineable emotions.
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When fuch emotions are once created they are not
eafily fubdued. -

It has happened in this cafe, that there have been
attempts made to call up public fenfibility, to excite
refentment againft this unfortunate man ; in this way,
gentlemen, the public opinion comes to be formed
unfavourably, and long before the prifoner is brought
to his trial he is already condemned. It is not to be
fuppoled that thefe rumours can have any weight with
a Court of Juftice, but no man is aitogether above
being moved by fuch reports—and it requires fome
fortitude to withftand them ; but now having heard
the whole which can be faid, you are prepared to de-
termine whether the witneffes have always fpoken with
candor, or whether they have not fpoken from tem-
per, hatred and revenge.

We rely on it at firlt that there is nothing from
which a difcreet Jury can condemn the prifoner; in
the very commencement of the bufinefs itisiavoived
in doubt. Notwith{tanding there may be teftimony
of an intimacy having fubfilted between the piifoner
and the deceafed, we fhall fhow you that there was
nothing like a real courtfhip, or fuch a courfe of con-
duct as ought to induce impartial people to entertain
a belief that marriage was intended ; for it will be
feen that she manifeffed equal pariiality for other
perfons as for Mr. Weeks. 1t will be thewn that the
was in the habit of being frequently out of evenings,
and could give no good account of herfelf ; that she
had at fome time afferted that she had paft the cve-
ning at houfes, where it afterwards appeared fhe had
not been.  We shall show you that if fufpicions may
attach any where, there are thofe on whom they may
bet {tened with more appearance of truth than on tie
prifoner at the bar. Certainly you are not in this
place to condemn others, yet it will relieve your

I
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minds of a burden.  There will be two modes of giv-
ing a folution—fitft, that the deceafed fometimes ap-
reared melancho‘v, that fhe was a dependant upon
this uumly, and thata gloomy fenfe ot her fituation
mighit have led her to deftroy herfelf.  As to thein.
cident of the fleigh, we fhall account for his whole
time during that evening, except abiout 15 minutes,
which was employed in walking from one houfe 1o
another ; and we fhall fhow you, that the whole of
his condudt has been fuch, as totally to repel the idea
of guile. Tt will appear, that at ten o’clock the same
evening, he fupped at his brother’s perfettly tranquil.
The ftory vou will fee, is broken, difconneéted, and
urterly impe flible.—We thall fbow you that the ﬂelgh
of Ezra Wecks was not out that evening, indeed the
teitimony of the good old woman was fuch, as could
not gain the leaft belicf, efpecially when you fee that
in matter of date and time fhe was totally loft: It
will be thown you that on this occafion there have
been violent attempts, to inflame the public mind
againft the prifoner, and if we thall bring thefe home
to fome of the wimefles, we hope you will pronounce
them altogether unworthy ‘of credit—for a man to
fereftall the public opinion, is to arreft the hand of
juftice and deferves the fevereft reprehension, and
iuch condu&t we fhall fix on the witnefles.

. We fhall fhow you that the prifoner has been uni-
form'y well fpoken of, more highly efteemed than
one of his years, not only for his deportment, but for
his morals.  That a2 man of fuch a characer fhould
be impelled, without motive, to the commiffion of fo
horrid a crime, caunot be believed. Much has been
faid about the appearance of guilt and terror in the
prifoner when charged with the crime. But, gentle-
inen, no man isarmed with fo much firmnefs of nerves
that when charged with a crime, he will not difco-
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ver great emotion 5 when, therafore, perfons of little
difcernment come ﬁJrv ard and fay that they faw emo-
tions of slarm and terror, no man however innocent as
an angel, is {ife; the emotions of furprzz may be
confirued hy the ignorant or the malicious into thofz
of gutlt. A man cha rged with a heninus crime may
even prevaricve; we fhm‘ fhow you the cale of a
young man, who, being charged with the crime of
murd-r, even brc uo}‘t a young woman d. eflid to re-
fernble the one he vwas chars nd with murdering—rthis
was {upoofed to be a circumftance fo conclufive of
his guilt thit he was convicted and exccuted, and af-
terwords the young woman was found to be alive,
Even in this very city a ca’e had occured, not many
years agn, a young man had been charged with the
crime of rape. It isyet fr fh in the minds of every
bedy. The public mmd was there highly incenfed,
and even after the unfiortunate man had bem acqu.tred
by a verdi& of 4 ju}V {o irtitated and‘enflamed were
the penple, that the magiftrates were infulted, and
tney threatened to pull down the houfe of the prifon-
er’'s coun fcl After that a cwﬂ fuit was commenced
for the injury done the girl, a very enormous fum
gwcn in damages, and the deff'ndant was Ignomini-
ouily confined Within the walls of a prifon.  WNow it
has come out thuat the accufation was certainly falfe
and malicious.
If this doQrine of prefumptive evidence is to pre-

vail, and to be fufficient to couvi@, what remorfe of

confcience muil a juror feel for having convitted a
man who afterwards appeared to be Innocent. In
cafes depending upon a chain of circumftance, all the’
fabric muft hang together or the wuele will tumble
down. We fhall, however, not depend altogether on
the weaknefs of proof on the part of the profecution,
we fhall bring forward fuch proof as will not leave to
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you even to: balance in your minds, whether the pri.
foner is Guilty or Not—from even that burden we
fhall relieve you.

But before we come to the teftimony, on the part
of the prifoner, it may be well to examinea little
more into the nature of the evidence on the part of the
profecution. It may be material to difcover how
much of this teftimony which we have heard, is the
effe@ of a prejudiced imagination; in cafes, people
relate firft with an honeft zeal to relate as an opinion,
next as a matter of faét. The only material faéts on
which I would obferve here, is the expreffion afcribed
to the prifoner, of the Manhattan Well, but that cir-
cumf{tance will be fatisfattorily accounted for, by pro-
ving to you that he had been previoufly informed that
the muff had been found there, and it was therefore
natural to enquire if the body was not found there
alfo—If, gentlemen, we fhow you all this, you will
be able to fay, before leaving your feats, that thereis
nothing_to warrant you in pronouncing the prifoner
Guilty.

DEMAS MEED., first witness for prisoner sworn wm

Q. Do you live with Ezra Weeks, and did you
the 22d of December laft ? Relate all you know,

A, Ilivewith Mr. Ezra Weeks, as an appren-
tice, and take care of his horfeand fleigh. I lived
with him in December laft ; I remember perfectly
well tuking care of the horfe that night, and I either
left the key after locking the gate as ufual, on the
mantle-piece, or I put it in my pocket, I cant fay cers
tainly which. ‘

Q (by one of the jury) Was it a week day or on
Sunday ¢

A, OnSunday. Ilock the gate every night—I
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ocked it that night a little after dark, and before &
o’ clock.
Q. Did you mifs the key in the morning ?

A, 1did rot

Q. (by the prisoner’s counsel) 1f any body had tak-
en our the horfe and fleigh for half an hour,! thould
you not have known it ?

A. Idont know certainly as I fhould, the ftable
is fome way from the houfe. ‘

Did you fee any thing miflaid ?

A. thhihg.

Q. Has the harnefs bells ?

A It has 8, tied on in 4 places-—there was no
harn={s without bells.

Where was you that evening ¢

A~ T was the whole evening in the kitchen, ex-
cept a little while, when I was in the yard getting
{ome wood.

Q by the Court. Were the bells tied on {o that they
could be taken off if you chofe ?

A.  They were fo. ‘

You obferved nothing unufual about the horfe
in the morning, you fay—he did not appear as if he
ha! been ufed hard ?

A. 1did not.

Q. (% one of the jury) When you faw the bells
next day, were they tied as you left them ?

A.  They feemed to be tied as Ileft them.

Q_ &y A. A. G. Did you take notice, do you re-
mer oer whether they were tied by yourfelf or not ?

A I did not.

Q_ How many minutes would it confume to take
the vells off and put them on?

A. Fiveor fix.

Q. & A. A. G. If you had laid the kev upon the
mantle piece, and fome perfon had taken it off and
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put it there again after keeping it half an hour, might
it net have been done without your knowledge ?

A. I don't know but that it might, bur I don’t
think it could, for T was cny once out of the kitchen
to retch an armful of wood.

Q_ by the Court. Were the fleigh and hagnefs kept
togeLh 7.

A. Yes.
- How long would it take you to harnefs the
horfc-and tackle rhe fl-igh ?

A. About ton or fifteen minutes.

. Did you fee Levi Weeks that evening ?
A, Mr. M’Combs and his wife were therew]

‘dont exacly know what time they went away, but af-
- ter they were gone a lit'le time, 1 heard {'omebody go

up ftairs, ‘about half an hour afterward: = 1 tle before
9, 1 went up ftairs and there I' faw Mr. LeV1 Weeks
fitting.

Are you fure that no other person were in ?

A Not to my knowledge.

LORENA FORREST —

Q. Do you live near Mrs. Ring’s Ma’am ?

A. 1 live next door.

Pray tell what you know about this affair.

It was ahbout 12 o’cluck, as near as I can recollet,
on the 2d day of Januaxy, the day when fhe was found,
that Levi Weeks came in‘o our houfe to buy fome'
tobaccom! asked him if there was any news of El-
more—=he anfwered, no. I told him that | expeé‘ced
Ring’s family had, for they fiemed much agitated.
He went away, and in about half zn hour he came
in aga in whi'e we fat at table, about one o’clock—
1 had heara before this about the mufPs being found 3
Mrs. Ring had informed me—and I told him that
Mrs. Riug had mentiond to me that the muff and
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handkerchicf had been found in a drain near Bayard’s
lane '

Q_ Did you take any particular notice of his coun.-
tenance ? ‘

A. 1did—1 did not perceive any change or alter-
ation in it.

Q. (by ome of the jury) Was the Manhattan well
mentioned ?

A, There was nothing faid about the Manhattan
well.

Did you not hear Mr. Croucher fay, that he
came near the well the evening when fhe was miffing 2

A. Yes, hetold me he did, and faid that he ge-
nerally came rhat way.

JOSEPH WATKINS.—This witnefs was prefent
at the fin!ing of the hody, and he gavc pretty nearly
the fame account with the other witnefs, excepting
that when he came to defcrite the marks of violence
appearing on the deceafed, he faid her focks and ft.ck-
ings were worn out on the ball of her foot, and were
entirely whole on the upper pari=—this he was pofi-
tive of, _

Do you remember any thing in the condué of
Mr. Ring that led youto fufpicions of improper con-
dut between him and Elma ? ‘

A. About the middle of September, Mrs. Rirg
being in the country, I imagined one night 1 heard a
fhaking of a bed and confiderable noife there, in the
fecond flory, where Elma’s bed ftood ; the bed flood
within four inches of the partition. 1 heard a man’s
voice and a woman’s. 1 am very possitive that the
voice was not Levi's,

Q. &y one of the Jury. Could you hear through the
partition ?

A. Pretty diftin@ly,

Q. Did the noife of the bed continue any time ?
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A. It continued fome time and it muft have been
very loud to have awakened me. 1heard a man’s
veice pretty loud and lively, and joking; the voice
was loud and unguarded. I faid to my wife, it is
Ring’s voice, and | told my wife that girl will be ru-
n*ed next. I felt 3 good deal hurt at che time, but
meer m°ntxoned it or any thing about it to any body
afterwards, til' after Elma was lost.
CROSS-EXAMINED.
Q. Whendid you lait fee the front room in Ring’s
le {L, of which you fpeak ?
. 1do not know when.
Have you been there lately ?
No.
Were you there any time lat fall ?
I cantiot fay 1 was.
Have you ever feen the bed that ftands there ?
1 dont know that 1 have.
You have faid the bec was next to your room,
how io you know this ?
A. T have feen the bed placed fo.
‘Wh tkind of partition is it which divides the
houfes ? :
A, Aplank partition, lathed and pla1ﬁcred both
fides. I made it myfelf.
). Are you certain it was Ring’s voice, Su‘ ?
A1 took it to be Ring’s.
Q Could you diftinguifh the other to be 2 wo-
mans’ voice ?
A | could not certamlv, becaufe it was fo low.
Did you ever hear any thing before, that in-
duced you to {ufpe& that there was an improper con-
nedion. between Mr, Ring and E!ma ?
A. Iwill not undertake, expressly, to fay.
. When was this ?
Al Alittle after the middle of September.

3
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How often have you heard this noife of the
bed?
A.  From eight to fourteen times, in the time of
the ficknefs.
. When did this occur of which you have par-
ticularly fpoke?
A. Poffibly from the 20tn of September to Oc-
tober.
Was this ever mentioned do you fxy ?
A. Never out of the houfe ¢ill after the girl was
miffing ?
Q. by Prisoner’s Counsel. Dxd you ever hear this
noife after Mrs. Ring came from the country ?
A. Ineverdid.
Q. Do you remember that Mrs. Ring came into
your houfe one morning, and what did fhe fay ?
A. She came into our houfe one morning, and

faid Elmort was fo fick fince the was at your houfe

iaft night, that we have all been employed to tuke
care of her; my wife faid fhe was not here. Mrse
Ring faid aye, fhe told me the had been.

Q. What charatter did Mrs. Ring give of the
prisoner.

A. 1 heard her fay, the Thurfday after fhe was
miffing, that he was very kind and friendly to all the
samily, particularly when fick, but vot more fo to
this gir} than to the reft, he was more like one of the
ramd/ than 2 boarder.

Q. &y A. A.G. Did you ever tell any body that
you thought the perfons whom you overheard was
Mrs. Ring and Elma ?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever {peak of this noife which youand
your wife heard in the night to any body elfe ?

A. I dont know but T once faid to Croucher that
1 believed he had a hand init.

K
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"~ Q. Did you ever converfe with Croucher about
where he was rhe evening Elma was missing? ’
A. 1asked him orce wrere he was that evening,
but do not knw whar anfwer he made.
Q. by Prisoner’s counsel.) Did ycu ever fee Crouch-

- er bufy in {preading fulpicions ag+inft the prifoner ?.

A. Theday fhe was laid out, in the ftreet, I faw

' him very bufy inattempiing to make people believe

that the prifoner was guilty.
Q. by (affist. attr’y. gen.) When did you firft men.
ticn to Croucher what you heard in the chamber ?

A. At the Coroners’ jury., =
. How could you diftinguifh between the voice

of Mr. Ring and Mr. Weeks ?
A. Ring’sisa high founding voice, that of Week’s

a low foft voice. ,

ELIZABETH WATKINS. Her depofition
was read. in which fhe corroborated the teftimony of
her hufband 5 and a fupplementary depofition was next

produced, which follows.
[ELIZABETH WATKINS. Her testimony is contained in the
following Deposition, taken by cousent.)
DEPOSITION OF ELIZABETH WATKINS.

9. Did Mrs, Catharine Ring inform you any thing respeding
"Levi Weeks's charafter and his behaviour in the family, and espe-
cially as to any person sick ? _
4. On Thursday evening, after Miss Sands was missing, Mrs,
Ring came to seetlis deponenty and in conversation, said that Levi
Weeks was one of the best, most civil, and kind hearted boarders that

she ever had, and if any of the children wese sick, he was as kind
and attentive to them as if they were his own, and was remarkably

affedtionate and kind to them on the slightest complaints they made ;

and that his behaviour was invariably that of an amiable and obliging
Ferson.
ELIZABETH WATKINS.
Sworn this 31et day of March, 1800, .
before piey”
) Wi, JOHNSON,
One of the Justices of the Peace.
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CAPT. A. RUTGERS.—I remember very well
meeting Mr. Ring one day, on Sunday afternoon ; he
asked me if | hid heard of a muff’s being-found any
where ? | replied it was an odd queftion. He faid
they were looking for a young woman who was mif-
fing. a relation of his wife’s, and the had been gone 2
week. lasked him what he fuppofed had become of
her ; either he or fome perfon with him, faid they had
reafon to belicve fhe was drowned, and they fuppofed
it was a love fit. 1 advifed them to employ Mr. G.
. Walgrove, who was an expert perfon at {weeping the
river on {uch occafions. From what pafled at that
time | had no idca that Mr. Ring then thought the
was murdered.

LORENA FORREST, called again.

Q. 2y Prifoner’s Counsel. Have you had at any time -
any converfation with Croucher, and what was it ?

A. A day or two after Elma was found, he wasat
our houfe, and he {aid it was a very unfortunate thing
that he had not come that way juft at the time, as he
might have faved her life. He faid he had come by
that night, v

Q. You are very well perfuaded that he faid this ?

A. I am, very well. v

A. A. Gen. Repeat the terms of the converfation.

Witnefs. After the young woman had been feund
and after the Jnry had {ate—

A. A, Gen, That is 15 days after fhe was loft.
Giv: us the very terms, Ma’am, if you pleafe.

Witnefs. Upon my telling him what he had {worn
before the Grand Jury [You mean the Coroners Fury.}
he faid he did come along there that evening, but not
at that hour.

Q. Did he then fay any thing about Mrs. Brown,
or Mrs. Afhmore’s houle ? ' ,

A. He did not fay any thing about any houfe.
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BETSY WATKINS.—Q, Did you knowEL
ma Sands ?

A. Yes, I knew her very well, for we live next
door.

Q. Do you know which was her bed room ?

A. She had a front bed chamber which was a-
gainft my mother’s ; 1 know becaufe | ufed to fit out
upon the ftoop late at night, and when fhe went to
bed, fhe frequently ufed to hold the candle out of the
wincow.

Q. Do you remember Mrs ngs coming into
your houfe and {peaking about Elma’s being out at
nights ?

A. T remember that Mrs. Ring came into our

oufe one morning and faid her boarders had gone
out without breakfaft, that Elma had been fick all
night, cver fince fhe came from our houfe, and the
thought it arofe from her fittirg over our ftove. My
mother replicd that fhe had not been at our houfe—
then faid Mrs. Ring, perhaps fhe has been at Mr. Fo-
refts.

Q. Haveyou ever heard Mrs. Ring fay any thing
of the prifoner’s behaviour in the family ?

A. 1 heard her fay one day, I think it was Wed-
nefday, after Elma was missing, that he was very
kind and attentive to the family ; if any of the chil-
dren had the leaft complaint in the world, he was ve-
1y attentive to them.

Q. Did Mrs. Ring fay any thing about the ap-
pearance of Elma the day of the 22d, and what was it ?

A. She faid that in the evening Elma wnt up
ftairs, and fhe followed her up with a candle, or went
up, I cant fay which, fhe fixed her handkerchief at
the glafs ; fhe faid that Eima looked pale, and the toid
her not to be frightened—no, fhe faid, and the came
down and leaned her head upon her hand—fhe faid
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fhe thought fhe afterwards heard a whifpering in the
entry. ‘

DOCTOR PRINCE.~—1I was called upon by a
conftable to attend the Coroner’s Jury which was fit-
ting on. the body of Elma Sands : when I came in
1{w the body lying on the table before the Jury
1 proceeded to examine it; 1 {aw fome fcratches, and
a {mall bruife on the knee. The body was thendif-
{ @&ed— {aw no extravafations of blood—I faw no
fpots about the neck—I faw a little {fpot upon the
breaft, which I could cover with my thumb —I faw
no marks of violence—1 {aw no appearances but what
might be «ccounted for by fuppofing fhe drowned her-
{elf.

Q. Did you particularly examine the neck ?

A. Not more than any other part.

Q. If her: had been any very remarkable fpots
would you not have feen them ?

[ fhould—1 examined particularly—I was called
for that purpole.

Q. (by the court) Did you fee no bruife on the
breaft ?

A. T faw a{mall contufion.

Q. Was the neck broken ?

Q. t was not, nor was there any diflocation.

Dr. MACKINTOSH.—I was called upon toge-
ther with Dr. Prince; on the 3d of January laft to at-
tend a Ccroner’s inqueft on the body of Elma Sands,
and [ was defired pariicularly, by the jury, to examine
and fee if the was pregnant. 'Lhere were no marks
of violence~and we difcovered, to the fatisfaction of
the jury, that fhe was not pregnant. It was fuggefted
by fome of the jury that her neck was broke: I ex-
amined and found it was not, neither was the coliar
bonediflocated. The fcarfskin of the face was fcratched
as with gravel——near the inftep there was a fmall {pot
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Iike a blood blifter. It feemed as if the' knee had been

injurcd by talling upon co:rfe gravel—there was a
{pot upon the breaft, but there were no marks of vi-
ol nce upon the belly—=l think there were not marks
of violence fufficicnt to occ ficn he r death.

I have been in the cuftom of feeing numbers of
drowned people who have been brought to the Alms-
Houfe, and have often feen Livid fpots of the skin,
much fuch as I {ww in this inftance. 1 took it to be
the cffedt of fuffocation rather than of any thing elfe.

Q: 4y affist. attr’y gen. Would that produce a row
of fpots round the neck ?

A.  Why if the body was gangrened it would be
no matter. ‘1t might or 1t might not.

"By the coyrt. 1f the hand hacd been hurt by a
blow, woul { ycu have {ven and noticed it ?

A. Unlou tedly T fhou'd.

Was a there any water in the body ?

‘Ao A finall quantity. but very little is fufficient
to drown—there might have been a quart.

Q. by one of the jury. Would a fpoonful drown ?

A. Yes, unlefs it could be thrown up by the ef-
fe& of cough.

0. Su pofe fhe had been killed firft and then thrown
into the weH would the body have any water in 1t ?

A Irmight.

Q. by Prisoner’s Counsel. Is it your opinion Sir,
from all yon faw, that the death was occafioned by
drowning ?

A, ltis, _

Dr. ROMAYNE.—In anfwer to feveral queftions
put to the witnefs, he {ui:, I can not undertzke to give
any decic ed opinion upon appear inces without feeing
the body  Persons wiil vary extremely in the accounts
they give, as well as in the co: clufions they draw from:
appearances. The impreffions upon the fenfes, arg
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i many cafes remarkably nice and cannot be d=fcribed,
from the poverty of language, foas to cunvey corret
ideas to others. ~ An=xpericnced perfon of guo : judg-
ment, might perhaps difcover, upon in{pection, whe-
ther bruiles made upon the body were done before or
after death, A body which had been tuken ou- of
the water wou!d afflume a diffcrent apprarince from
what it had at firft, in ten minutes after it was expofed
to air, and every day the appearance of injury doue,
would acquire more vifibility as it advanced in putres
faion. I have examined many bodies after death,
by hanging, and never could difcover thut the red
colour of the countenance w.s material'y changed
- from what it was in life, or juft before fudden death.
Preflure upon the veins, fo as to interrupt the circula-
tion will givega blue or black tint or florid appearance;
pieffure upon th- arterics is likzly to produce palenefs.
DOCTOR HOSACK~—Cailed again.

Q. Is there anv way in which the teftimeny we
have heard can be reconciled ?

A. Tthink it may ineither of two ways. Firft,
the fpots might not have been, and Iprefume were
not as vifible at the time the body was firft takn out
of the water, as after it had been expofed to the air
for fome days.  This change of color in bruifes is
not uncommon in the living body, and 1 prefume
fomewhat fimilar colors may occur by the procefs of
putrifaction after death. At firft th.re may be very
little change of color in the injured part, but, after
fome time, it undergoes a very confiderable alteraticn.
Secondly, it occurs to me, that as it was fuppofed
that the neck and collar boue were broken, when the
was firft taken out of the well, and as I did not fee
her until the day of interment, it is possible that the
frequent turning and bending the head and, the
frequent examination of the neck to afcertain the in-
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jury done to the collar bone, may have produced the
appearances on the neck  before mentioned, efpeci-
ally asthie body had been dead for feveral days, and
the veflels had become tender ; in which cife, very
little violence might have produced an effufion of
blood under the skin. Thefe circumftances I did not
advert to in my examination in the morning, not
knowing the injury done to the neck and collar bone,
which have been fince related.
, Q. How much water will the lungs take in after
death ? o _ -

A.  Only as much as the windpipe will hold can '
be received. The lungs collapfe at the laft expira-
tion, and a very inconfiderable quantiry of water can
be received afterwards.  But this I do not affert from
my ‘own knowledge of the ftate of the body after
death by drowning, but upon the authority of Dr.
Coleman, of London, who aflerts that he frequently
obferved this fa& upon diffection.

After the body has lain a long time under water,
it1s not unufual to find water n it. .

DAVID FOREST.—Having been queftioned if
ke knew any thing about Croucher the witnefs he
{aid, on the 26th of December laft, Croucher came
to my flore to buy a loaf of bread, hefaid Ring’s fa-
mily was in great diftrefs, and it was nothing ftrange
to him, after what his landlord had faid, -and being
under the fame roof it gave him great uneafinefs. His
own opinion he faid was that the girl had made way
with herfelf. On Friday laft Croucher came running X ¢
into the ftore and faid, what do you think of this in-
_nocent young man now ! thereis a material evidence
againft  him from the Jerfies, and heis taken by the
High Sheriff, fir, and carried to jail, he will be carried
fromt here fir, to the court and be tried, from there
he will becarried back to jail, and from thence to
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court again, fir, and from thence to the place of exe-
cution, and there be hanged by the neck till he is
dead.

Q. Did he fay this in an angry tone ?

A7 T can’t fay it was anger or not, he has a quick
way of {peaking.

Q. Had he any particular bufinefs with you at this
time.

A. He did not feem to have any but to tell me
this.

EZRA LACEY.—I was a lodger in the houfe of
Mrs. Ring, and was there the night the as mifling.
Levi Weeks was there about 8 o’clock in the evening
i felt unwell and 1 came in about eight o’clock ; Ire.

- member Ruffel who was with me, took out his watch

and faid it was two minutes before, or two minutes
after eight, I can’t fay which. We fat a while, and
he then took out his watch again and {aid, it was ten
minutes after 8 ; after this, not long, perhaps 5 or 6
minutes, we gotup and went to bed and left Mr.
Ring, and this young man and Elma there together—
Idon’t know whether Mrs. Ring was there or not.

Q. Did you obferve any change in his counteiance
or behaviour after Elma was mifling.

A. None, not the leaft.

Q. Did you oblerve any very particular attention
by the prifoner to Elma ?

A. Thad lodged in the houfe only 5 or 6 days be-
fore the 22d of December, but I thought he was more
attentive to Hope than to Elma.

Q. Did you ever hear any threats againft the pri-
foner by Ring? '

A. 1 was once in company one evening, and Ring
was there, and I heard fomebody fay if Levi Weeks
faould get clear by law, it would rat be fafe for him
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to appear inpublic, and Ring faid he thought o too.
Q. Did you not hear threats from Ring himfelf ?
A. Theard Ring fay that if he fhould meet himin
the dark, he fhould not think it wrong to put him
a’one fideif he had a loaded piftol, if he thought he
fhould not be found out in it. 1 went to the door
pretty foon after, and Mr. Van Alftine followed me.
I told him I was really furprifed that Ring fhould
exprefs himfelf in this manner, he faid he thought fo
too. ’ :
“WILLIAM DUSTAN.—Laft Friday morn-
ing, a man, I don’t know his name, came into my
fore, (hereone of ¢ be prisoner’s counsel beld acandle close
to Croncher’s face, who stood among the croud, and asked
the witnessif it was be, ond be said it was.) he faid
¢« Good morning gentlemen, Levi Weeks is taken up
by the High Sheriff, and there is frefh evidence
againft him from Hackenfack.”—He then went away
and as he went out he faid, ¢ my nameis Croucher ;”
and this was all the bufinefs he had with me.
HUGH M<DOUGALL.—I have been acquaint-
ed with this Mr. Croucher for fome time, but I never
liked his looks. On the 2d of January, the day
when the bedy was found, he was extremely buly
among the croud to {pread improper infinuations and
prejudices againft the prifoner, who was then taken;
and among other things he told a ftory about his lofing
a pocket book. This condu& I thought vnfair, and
I told him fo plainly. O but fays he, there’s the ftory
of the pocket book, and ftopped there.—He ufed to
bring feveral articles of wearing apparrel, fuch as
fhawls, &c. to difpofe of, but I noticed that he always
managed {o as to come jaftat dinner time—1I told my
_wife that 1 did not like the man, and defired that fhe
would tell him, that in future if he wanted any thing
of me, that I would call on him.  Laft Mondav,
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while T was bufy in my garden, he came again ; now
fays he, the thing has all come out, the thing is fettled,
there is point blank proof come from the Jerfeys of a
new fa&. 1 told him I thought it wrong and highly
improper that he thould perfecute Weeks in fuch a
manner when he had a difference with him 3 that for
my own part, I wanted fome further cuidence before I
thould condemn the man.

TIMOTHY B. CRANE.—I lodged at Mr.
Ring’s a fortnight—about a week or eight days be-
fore the girl was missing. /

Q. Did you obferve any particular attentions
from the prifoner to Elma ?

A. T thought he paid as much attention to Hope
as to her—1I left the houfe on the 14th of Decem-

i

. What was Elma’s temper when you was there,
was fhe unufually gay?

A. Shefeered of a melancholy make; fometimes
fhe would pafs a joke, but it feemed forced.

Q. Had you any opportunity of examining the
countenance and conduct of Levi?

A. On Wednefday after fhe was mifling, 1 was
told that Levi was {ulpected, and that it would be his
ruin. I obferved particularly after that, his counte-
nance and behaviour ; I could not {ee that there was
the leat difference in either. He laid out the work
ot the thop asufual. I inquired of my friends every
day, and was told that things grew worfe and worfe,
fufpicions rofe higher and I watched him clofer, bnt
sever difcovered the leaft alteration.

CROSS EXAMINATION.
Q. How long was Eima fick while you were there ¢
A. Nearly haif the time.
Q. Was not her melancholy owing to her ficknefs ?
A. No. '
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Q. %y Prisoner’s Counsel. Did you never fee her take
unufual quantities of Laudanum ?

A. T was there one evening and Dr. Snedecher

was prefent ; fhe asked him for Laudanum, and he
off.red to give her fome if fhe would let him drop
it into her mouth, which fhe confented to, and he
dropt a number of ‘drops into her mouth which {ur-
prifed us all, fhe faid fhe withed fhe had a phial full
fhe would take it. \

Q. Did Mrs. Ring ever tell you that the never faw
Elma after the went up-ftairs ? '

A. T underftood her that the never faw her after
the went upftairs ; T will not be very pofitive, but it
is ftill my belief.

Q. &y the court. Did the {peak of her adjufting her
fhawl ?

“A. ] think fhe faid fhe putiton below. .

JOHN B. COMBS.—Q. Do you remember any
thing that happened the evening that Elma was mis-
fing ?

" A. Between fix and feven o'clock on the 22d of
December, my wife and myfelf went to the houfe of
Ezra Weeks ; when we came in we found Levi fitting
there, and he remained till eight o’clock ; he converf-
¢d as ufual, and when he got up to go away, he flood
leaning for a minute upon the back of a chair, and then
bid !fs ‘good night.  He appeared in no hurry to go
at all.

Q. by one of the Fury. How did you know it was
8 o’clock ? .

A.  We went from Ezra Weeks’ to Henry Cle-
ments, where we ftayed about twenty minutes.

Q. How far is that?

A. A few minutes walk only—It was eight
- o’cleck asnear as I can judge.

%
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- Q. How longdid you remain at £2ra Week’s ?
A. About twenty or twenty-five minutes.
Q. What time did you get home ?
I was little after nine,

A.
- Q. Why are you fo particular in your recollec-

A. Becaufe Henry C'emems came to me the
Wednefday after fhe was mifling, to afk if 1 could
remember who was at Ezra Weeks” with me that

Sunda - evering, for altho’ it might feem odd, yet I
thould hear more of it.

I LIZABE H WEEKS—The Depofition of this

witn {5 was taken and read by confent, and is as fol«
lows:
City «nd County of lew-York, ss, ’

ELIZABETH WEEKS, wife of Fara Weeks, of the city of
New-York, being duly sworn, saith, That on Sunday, the 22d day
of December last, she and her husband were at home,  That a-
bout candle lizht, or a little while after, Mr. John Mc Combs, and
bis wifa cane 1in, that Levi Weeks, (the person charged with the
murder of Julianna Elmore Sands), was then in the room, and re«
miined with the company till after the house clock struck eight,
and then went away 5 toat to the best of this deponent’s knowledge
and belief, Mr. and Mrs. Mc Combs left the house about twenty ot
twenty-five mmmnutes after eizht by the house clock ; that after her
husband bad lighted Mo, and Mrs. Mc Combs out, and had re-
tarmed into the room, before he had time to fit down, the said Levi
Weeiss ¢ umz in, and 1@ naned with them; conversing on the business
to be performed the next day—appeared cheerful, cat a hearty sup-
per. and went off to his lodgings, as she believes, about ten o’clock ;
and, that he appeared as cheorful as usnal—she saw no particular
difference in his conduét or behaviour.,

FLIZABETH WEEKS.
Sworn, this 18th day of January, 1800,
before me RIGHARD HARISON,

Recorder of New-York.

DEMAS MLEED, called again—Q. Do you re-
member any thirg about Mr. Mc Combs and his
wife being at 1:zra Weeks® on the 22d of December.

A.  Yes, I remember very well that I heard Mr.
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Ezra Weeks fay at the door, ¢hand ‘a candle.’—
After Mr. Mc Combs was gone, I heard fomebody
go upftairs, and in about half an hour I went up
and found Mr. Levi Weeks fitting there. |

-~ EZRA WEEKS, On Sunday the 22d of Decem-
ber, my brother Levi came to my houfe about nine
o’clock in the morning, I went to Church and left
him there, I dined that day at my father-in law’s, and
did not return home till about 5 o’clock in the after-
noon. Juftas we had drank tea and were yet fitting
at the table before we lit candles, my brother came in,
and I believe in about half an hour afterwards Mr. and
Mrs. M¢Combs came in, and my brother tatried till
about 8 o’clock, whether a little before or a little af-
ter I cannot fay. Mr. M¢Combs and his wife fat
about 20 minutes as near as I can judge after my bro-
ther went out, I lighted them down ftairs and held the
candle to light them all the way to Mr. Rhinelander’s
corner, it being very flippery and dark cautioned
them to take care. I came up again, juft asI fitdown
the candle, before I had time to fit down myfelf, Levi

my brother came in to enquire about the bufinefs of

the next day, as he had the charge of my fhop, un-
derftanding the bufinefs as well as myfelf, and very
attentive to it, [ am feldom at the fhop more than
once aday. I attended to the bufinefs abroad, took
dimenfions of work on my memorandun, and gave it
o my brother in writing, his bufinefs was to give
dire&tions to the journeymen for execution—Here is
eight doors on my memorandum, (preducing it to
the Court and Jusy) of different dimenfions for Mr.
James Cumming’s houfé, which he teok down that
evening on a piece of paper as I called them off: he
gave direGtions to the journeymen for their execution
—the doors was made without any miftake, fitted for
their defigned places, and without any further dires-
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tions from me. It was a general practice of my bro-
ther’s to call o me of an evening to confult me about
bufinefs of the next day, and if company happened
to interfere, if he did not ftay till the com pany was
gone, he feldom failed to come in again before he
went to bed.  T'hat night he came accordingly, he
eat a hearty fupper, he was as cheerful as ever I faw
him, tarried till about 10 o’clock, and 1 fuppofe,
went home as ufual.

Queft. by Counfel for Prifoner. Did your brother
inform you that the muff and handlerchief were
found prior to his arreft ?

Anfw. On the 2d day of January laft, about two
o’clock in the afternoon, I was fitting down to dinner
and Levi came and told me that Mrs. Foreft had told
him that the muff and handkerchief was found ina
well near Bayard’s lane, I told him that I fuppofed it
muft be the Manhattan well. : -

Queft. by the affiftant att’y Gen. Iow came you
to mention the Manhattan well ?

Awfw. The reafon why the Manhattan well came
{o firft to my recolle@icn, was that | had furnifhed the
wood materials for that well, 2hd as my bufinefs often
called me that way Irode paft the well almoft every
day-.

Q. Did your brother know where the Well was ?

A, 1 believe he knew the fituation to the Weli.

. Had he not been there before the arreff’?

A7 Not to my knowledge. 1do not think he was
there until his arreft. I underftood him that he was
never. there before the officer took him there, but
I am not cectain, 3 ’

CHARLES THURSTON.—Q. Are you ac-
quainted with Mr. Lev: Weeks? '

“. It is about two years fince I firft worked there,
£ird. in the capacity of a journeyman, then as g fore-




C 8 ]

man. I was there about Chriftmas. There was a ru-
mour in the fhop that Mifs Elma Sands was miffing.
Mr. Levi Weeks then kept the books, and they were
kept juft as well as they had been before, and his con-
dudt was as ufual. From the time the girl was mif-
fing I never faw any difference in his conduét.
PETER FENTON, & JOSEPH HALL.—Thefe
witnefles were produced to fhew the diftance from
Ring’s houfe to the Manhattan well, by Greenwich-
ftreet, and they teftified that it was 79 chains, that is,
a mile wanting 22 yards. The diftance by Broad-
way and Barley-fireet is greater. The lalt witnefs
added, that he had made the experiment to fee in how
fhort a time a horfe might be drove from Rings’ to
the Manhattan well, and back again, and found it fif-
teen minutes. He gave the prifoner a good charadter.
1 be Affiftant Attorney General addreffed the court
a fecond time,on the propriety of admitting theexpre{-
fions of the deceafed to be given in evidence. He faid
he had no idea of attempting to qu-ftion the former
decifion of the court, but the caufe had now aflumed
another ccmplexion ; it had now been made a point
of defence, that the *nind of the deceafed was me-
lancholy and deranged—he thought the words as
well as the look and behavicur of the deceafed,
fhould be given in evidence, it being equally an
index of the mind and difpofinon and that in his
opinion, this was the only way to arrive at truth.
Col. Burr was about to reply, but the Court told

him it was unncceffary: they faid the ditinGtion

taken by the Affiltant Attorney General, was not
fuch as to induce them to change their opinion.

Mr. RING was called up again and examined by
the Court.

Q. What time did you dire& the docks to be
dragged ? :

O N
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A. T believe it was the firft Sunday after the was
mifling. .
Q. What induced you to do this?
A. Tlooked in the neareft dock, becaufe T heard

that Ezra Weeks had declared that his brother had

not been abfent above 15 minutes, and therefore I
fuppofed her drowned.. We {wept near Rhineland-
er’s battery, becaufe I thought it was the handieft
place, and being a bye-place, I thought it the moft
likely. : i ' ‘
Q. Isitanoted place?
A. Pretty much fo behind the battery.
FREDERICK RHINELANDER. —
Q. Do you know the prifoner at the bar, and what
charadter does he bear ?
A. T have known him fome time, and have always
confidered him an induftrious, altive young man.
The witnefs faid, that at the requeft of David
Hitchcock, on behalf of the prifoner, he had walk-
ed on Saturday laft from Ring’s to the Manhattan
well, and it took him 20 minutes: He had done it
a fecond time, when it took him 20 minutes to go
and 135 to return. _
Q. by prisoner’s counsel.  Is not the road to the well
a very rough and dangerous road ?
A. Yes.
Q. Should you fuppofe that any perfon could drive
a fleigh or carriage there in a dark night at all?
"A. No, I thould not. :
EZRA WEEKS, called again.—Do you know
whether your horfe and fleigh was out that evening ?
A. 1 had no charge of my horfe, my apprentice
took care of him, I did not fee him once a fortnight,
I do notknow as he had him thatnight.
JONATHAN BURRAL, Cafhier of the Bank.—
This witnefs faid, the Directors of the Bank had em-
' M
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ploved Mr. Ezra Weeks to erect a houfe for the Bank,
(which he at prefent i.ved in) the fummer before laft

that he was feldom there and the charge of the work

“fell upon 1.evi Weeks, the prifoner. He had always
confidered him as a very induftrious, prudent, civil
and obliging young man. His conduét imprefled
the witnefs with a favourable opinion of his morals
and his temper.

"PHILIP ARCULARIUS—Said he had known
the prifoner for five years paft, and agreed with Mr.
Burral, in the charac er he gaveof h m.

THOMAS ASH.—This witnefs had known him
for four or five years, and always remarked him for
his modeft and prudent behaviour.

.Mr. Mc Combs had always confidered the pri-.

foner a man of a very tender difpofition.

- WILLIA M PLIMART, added that he had a very
favorable opinion of him, he was of avery mild tem-
per.

The evidence for the prifoner being clofed, the
Affis’t Atr’y Gen’l called up a few more witnefies in
behalf of the People.

"MATHI W MUSTFE.—I faw a young man the
Sunday-weeck before the girl was mifing with a pole
in his hand (mterrupted by counsel for prisoner.)

"Q_ Do you know I evi Weeks ? “heuld you know
the perfon you fpeak of if you faw him ?

A. 1 d nt know as I thould.

. Q. A, o G. Take the candle and lock round
- and fee if you can pick him out. He went nearer
the prifoner. and pointing to him faid that was he.

Q. by Ps. Counfel. 'Will yeu undertake to {wear
that 1s the man you faw at the well ?
A. | cannot fwear to him.
Q. &y A. A. G. Well, fir, tell what you faw—
‘A, The Sunday before the young woman was mif-
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fing, I faw a young man founding the Manhattan
well with a pole. I went up to him and atked what
he was about, he faid he made the carpenter’s work,
and that he wanted to know the depth of the water.
He meafured it in different places, and found it 3
foot § inches, §-8-and 6 foot.

Q. How was this man drefled ?

- A. He had on a blue coatee, red jacket, blue
breeches and white flockings.

klias Ring being cailed aud afked if the prifoner
wore fuch a drefs, he faid he never faw him wear a
red jacket.

A. A.G. If the court pleafe we give up this point.

Gi ORGl FLEMING.—~ lhe witnefs faid he had
known Llias Ring § or 6 years at W {t.Point, and
while he lived in his neighbourhood, he bore the
chara ter of 2 man of credit. -

RICHARDSON UNDERHILL.—He gave Elias
Ring a good charater, and he faid lma was of a
cheertul difpofition and good company, but he had
not feen her for 6 months patft.

HiNRY CLEMEN [—Gave Ring a good cha-
ralter, .and he faid he was refpected as far as he knew
among the Friends, and he joined in giving Elma
the chara:ter of a lively, cheertul difpofition. _

Q. i.0 you recolle& any thing about Mr. M¢
Combs’ coming to vour houfe one Sunday evening.

A. Yes, I remember his coming in on a Sunday
evening which I found afterwards was the fame on
which tlma Sands was mifling. He and his wife
came in, and he obferved it was rather late to vifi
aneighbour, he faid it was g o’clock, or about
o’clock ; at any rate g o'clock was fomehow men-
tioncd. , :

Q. Do you knew what time it was yourfelf ?

A. 1do net,
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Q. How long did they ftay ?

A. Not half an hour I am fure, and I don’t think
it was half the time.

MATTHEW VAN AISTINE.—

Q. Did Fzra Lacey ever ask you, or fay any thing
to you about an oblervation of Ring, refpetting the
prifoner ? '

A. One evening Ezra Lacey asked me if 1did

.not hear Mr. Ring fay he would fhoot Weeks? He

related the circumitances, I made no anfwer ; he faid

ke thought it very wrong in Mr. Ring, I[faid I~

thought fo too, but to fay that I heard Mr. Ring fay
fo, I never ¢id. 1t is poflible it might have becn
faid and I not hear 1t

JOHN WILLIS—Said he had known Elma 18
months or 2 years, and always found her cheerful
and lively ; he had known Ring fome time and ne-
ver heard any harm of him,

ELEASER B :LL, JOHN BURK, NATHANI-
TL RING.— i hefe witnefles united in faying that
they had been tor fome time acquainted with Guli-
elma Sands, and that fhe was of a lively, cheerful
difpofition. \

Mrs. RING zgain—Being asked if Flma was in
the habit of being out of nights ? She faid fhe never
was to my knowledge, never fo as to alarm me ; and

‘25 to his kindnefs to my children, I muft contradi&t

that, as to the reft it may be true, for he ever ap-
pear d of a tender difpofition.
Did you not fay that you went to the front
door that evening ? B
A. The moment Levi came in, I got up and went
to the front door that he fhould not {ufpett me of

" knowing what : lma had told me.

ANN BROWN cr ANN ASHMORE.---On the
22d day of December, being my little boy’s birth-
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day, 1invited fome of my friends to come and fup
with me, aud among the ret Mr. Croucher. This
was between 12 and 1 o’clock, accordingly between
4 and 5 o’clock in the evening he came and remain.
ed there till 4 or § minutes after 11 '

Q. Could he have been abfent 20 minutes during
the ume? '

A. No, he was not.

Mary SeariNg, ANN Farrewn, Jacos Hoperr,
Jerragy Meeks.----Thefe witnefles all teftified that
they fupped with Mrs. Brown on the occafion of the
birth-day of her fon, and that Croucher was of the
party, and that he came between 4 and 5 o’clock.
and that he remained there till after 10, fome of
them faid after 11 o’clock.

When queftioned as to time, they could none of
them remember exatly the day of the month, fome
faid it was after Chriftmas, and fome in theholy-days.
They all agreed, however, thatit was on a Sunday,
and that it was the birth-day of Mrs, Brown’s child.

Ricuarp Davio CroucHER called again.---

Q. How many times was you at Ring’s on Sunday
evening of the 22d of December ? ‘

A. Three times, and the lateft about three o’clock.

Q. Did you ever publith the handbills about appa-
ritions, murder, &c. ?

A. No. I never did, nor do I know whodid, T was-
at 2 Mrs. Wellham’s, and | faw one there which I
asked leave to bring it to Ring’s, but I was not per-
mitted, and thatis all I know of them or ever faw of

them. )
At 25 minutes paft 2 o’clock, in the evening, the
examination clofed. Seventy-five witnefles having

been fworn. ; ' .
Col. Burr, read to the jury, the following pal-
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fages from Hale'’s Plea of the Crown, v. 11, p. 289,
2go.

In some cases presumptive evidences go far to prove a person
guilty, the there be no express proof of the {a&t to be committed
by hun, but then it must be very warily pressed, for it is better
five guilty persons shouid escape unpunished, than one innocent
person should die.

If a horse be stolen from A, and the same day B. be found up-
on him, it is a strong presumption that B. stole him, yet I do re-
member béfore a very learned and wary judge in such an instance
B. was condemned and executed at Oxford -assizes, and yet within
two assizes after C. being apprehended for another robbery and con-
vidied, upon liis judgement and execution, confessed he was the man
that stole the horse, and being closely pursued desired B.a stranger
to walk his borse. for him, while he turned aside upon a necessary
occasion, and escaped 3 and B. was apprehended with the horse,

and died innocently. .

Another that hippened in my remembrance in Stadfordshire
where. A, was long miséing, and upon strong presumptions B.. was
supposed to have murdered him, and to have consumed him to'ashes,
in an oven, that he should not be found, whereupon B. was in.
dicted of murder, and convict and -executed, and within one year
after A, returned, being indeed sent beyond sea by B. against his
will, and so, tho’ B. justly deserved death, yet be really was not
guilty of the offence for which he suffereds

{ The Counfel for the prifoner, now propofed to
fubmit the caufe to the charge of the Court— he
Affiftant Attorney-General withed that the Court
would adjourn, as they had done the preceding night ;
he ftated that he had not flept fince the morning that
the caufe was open.d, and had then been without
repofe forty-four hours 3 that he fognd himfelf fink-
ing under this faigue, and confidering that the pri-
foner’s counfel, who were to precsde him would pro-
bably take feveral hours, it would be morning before
he couid begin his addrefs to the Jury—that really
he had not ftrength- to proceed further that night,
and fhould therefore le under the neceflity of alcent-
ing to the propofition of the other fide, unlefs the
Court would adjourn—He was anxious that the
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Court fhould do this, becaufe be thought it import.
ant that the Jury fhould hear obfervations on the
. teftimony. '

The <ourt however, faid it would be too hard to
keep the Jury together another night without the
conveniencies neceflary to repofe, and they there-
fore could not think it proper. ‘

The Crrer JUSTICE in charging the Fury observed,

That from the manner in which the trial had been
conducted, he had been led to fuppose that the ar.
guments of the counfel would have afforded him fuf-
ficient time to adjuftand arrange the mafs of evidence,
which, in its progrefs, had been brought into view—
that it had, unexpeedly, became his duty to charge
them immediately after the teftimony was clofed—
but that he fubmitted to this with lefs reluttance
from a perfuafion that a minute detail was not eflen-
tial to enable them to determine on the cafe accord-
ing to its juftice, as the evidence applying to the
points on which it ought to be decided, in his opinion,
lay in a fmall compafs— 1 hat the queftion they had
to decide involved confiderations of great moment,
both to the public and the prifoner—To the public as
deeply interelted in the deteftion and punithment of
crimes of the atrocious nature.of that with which the

rifoner was charged—To the prifoner, ason their
verdi@ depended his life and every thing dear to the
human mind—That thefe wbfervations were only

partinent fo far as they might o%erate to ftimulate-

their attention and prompt toa dilpaflionate eftimate
of the evidence—but that they ought not to be per-
mitted to influence them from pronouncing the result
of their inveftigations according to the impreflions
they had made on their minds, regardlefs of the

cenfequences attached to theit determination—that -

—
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their path of duty was clearly and diftin&ly traced
for them to find the prifoner guilty if in their confciences,
they belicved him fo from the evidence—to acquit him
if they thought him innocent—That previous to his
confidering the nature and effe® of the evidence, it
might be well to obferve that this matter had, in a
confidcrable degree, excited the public attention—
that it had interefted the paffions of many, and that
a variety of reports refpecting it had been circulated,
fome of which mult, unavoidably, have been com-
municated to them—that by whatever motive prompt-
ed, they did not deferve attention, and that they
oughr not to have attached to them the leaft confe-
quence, or to mingle with the fals difclofed by the
witnefles—that the obligation they had incurred
when they became Jurors, limitted them to the evi-
dence produced on the trial, and that thar only could
juitify the verdiét they were called upon to give on
this occafion—that in this cale it was not pretended
that pofitive proof of the commiffion of the murder
by the prifoner was attainable, but that it had beea
atteinpted to prove his guilt by circumftantial evidence,
snd that if it could be eftablithed by a number of
circumftances {o conneéted as to produce a rational
convition that he was the perpetrator of the crime,
it would be as much their duty to find him guilty,
as if it was made out by direct and pofitive teltimo-
ny-—that there were points in which the circumftances
attempted to be combined were not fo fatisfactorily
conneced as to enable them to pronounce the prifong
er guiity.—That it was doub:ful whether Gulielma
Sands left the houfe of Elias Ring in company with
the prifoner fo as to impofe it on him to account for
the manner in which he had difpofed of her—that
the teftimony refpeting the one horfe fleigh, did not
appear to be fuch as to juftify a prefumption, that

L
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the priscner had personally any arency in them, for
that if the relation of Susannah Proad did nol gatis-
fv ther,, that the sleigh was taxen out of the lurber
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Vo discolour them to the DreJLdLCE of the prieo

court were unuw;w"usly of opinion that the proco

was iresufficiert to warranrt a verdict arainst nim, «nd
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Cuw.ellia, soon after it was taken out of the vell, —
was very doubtful whelther she had bhecn mAwombg
0 any ofther violence than that cccaslioned by the
drowning - that intimation had y@@ﬁ civen in
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